ERASMUS MUNDUS SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAMME

Meeting rehabilitation needs of persons with disabilities (PWDs) in an emergency medical response: a role for physiotherapy?

Stefanie Schnabel



Centre for International Health, Department of Global Public Health and Primary

Care

Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry
University of Bergen, Norway
2013

Meeting rehabilitation needs of persons with disabilities (PWDs) in an emergency medical response: a role for physiotherapy?

Stefanie Schnabel

Master's thesis submitted to the Centre for International Health, University of Bergen in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science in International Health.

Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry
University of Bergen, Norway
2013

Table of Contents

LIST OF TABLES	4
DECLARATION	5
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
ABSTRACT	7
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	8
INTRODUCTION	9
BACKGROUND	13
RATIONALE	14
OBJECTIVES	
METHODOLOGY	
NARRATIVE REVIEW	
General inclusion and exclusion criteria	
Specific inclusion criteria	
FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION	22
1.VIOLENT CONFLICT AND POST-DISASTER SETTINGS: THE EPIDEMIOLOGY OF INJUR AND PRE-EXISTING DISABILITIES	
1.1 The epidemiology of disaster and violent conflict-related injuries	
1.1.1 Injury patterns in a disaster context	
1.1.2 Injury patterns in a violent conflict context	26
1.2 THE BURDEN OF PRE-EXISTING DISABILITIES IN VIOLENT CONFLICT AND DISASTER SETTINGS	28
2. THE CONCEPT OF EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSISTANCE	30
2.1 THE PARADIGMS OF "TRADITIONAL" EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSISTANCE AND PRIMARY HEALTH CAI 2.2 "CONTEMPORARY" EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSISTANCE: FROM ACUTE EMERGENCY TO LONG-TERM RECOVERY AND PRIMARY HEALTH CARE?	
3. THE ROLE OF PHYSIOTHERAPY IN EMERGENCY MEDICAL RESPONSES	
3.1 PHYSIOTHERAPY AND REHABILITATION IN GLOBAL HEALTH	36 36
3.2 Physiotherapy in post-disaster and violent conflict settings	
3.2.1 Physiotherapy in post-disaster responses	
3.2.2 Physiotherapy in post-earthquake Haiti	
3.2.3 Physiotherapy in violent conflict settings	
3.3 PHYSIOTHERAPY AND ITS IMPACT ON THE QUALITY OF LIFE	
4. INCLUSIVE EMERGENCY RESPONSES	
LIMITATIONS	
CONCLUSION	
RECOMMENDATIONS	
	FΩ

List of Tables

Table 1. Tracking of literature search for chapter 1: Violent conflict and post-disaster settings: the epidemiology of injuries and pre-existing disabilities17	7
Table 2. Tracking of literature search for chapter 2: The concept of emergency medical assistance	3
Table 3. Tracking of literature search for chapter 3: The role of physiotherapy in emergency medical responses18	3
Table 4. Tracking of literature search for chapter 4: Inclusive emergency responses	9

Declaration

Where other people's work has been used (either from a printed source, internet or any other source) this has been carefully acknowledged and referenced in accordance with departmental requirements.

The thesis entitled "Meeting rehabilitation needs of persons with disabilities (PWDs) in an emergency medical response: a role for physiotherapy?" is my work.

Name: Stefanie Schnabel

Signature:

Date: 30 August 2013

Word Count: 14140

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank the Erasmus Mundus Scholarship Program for this unique opportunity to study for my Master's degree at two different Universities, University College London (UCL) and University of Bergen (UiB). It was a fantastic experience, which moved my academic life as well as expanded my social circle onto a global level. I met so many interesting people from different backgrounds and countries and I had the pleasure to study with them.

A big thanks goes to my parents and my sister who supported me throughout the year and helped me to move between countries. I also want to thank my friends Juliane, Saf and Cila as well as Dr. Landry for proofreading my work.

A very special thanks goes to my supervisor Ingvild Fossgard-Sandøy and my co-supervisor Graziella van den Bergh for the great guidance through my thesis. I very much appreciate that you gave me so much of your time to discuss my work. I also want to say thanks to the administrative staff at UCL, Paloma and Alison and at UiB, Borgny and Linda. When academic work was particularly challenging, Alison and Paloma encouraged me not to give up.

I also want to thank all my patients whom I have met over the past 10 years of my career as a neurological physiotherapist. Without that experience I would have not been able to do what I do. I want to mention two friends of whom I have learned the most, that is, Kristina, my friend with cerebral palsy from Bulgaria and Linda who has multiple sclerosis (MS) from London.

Finally, I want to say thanks to all my friends in Glasgow, London, Stuttgart, Berlin, Los Angeles, Hiroshima, Köln, Ibiza and Bergen who supported me through the degree.

Abstract

Objective: The study explores the potential role of physiotherapists (PTs) in violent conflict and post-disaster responses and discusses physical rehabilitation within the context of "contemporary" emergency medical assistance (EMA) and in the light of the Convention on the Rights for Persons with Disabilities (CRPD). Background: Rehabilitation needs of persons with pre-existing disabilities and disaster-related acquired disabilities have rarely been addressed in emergency medical responses. With the CRPD that came into force in 2008 and after the earthquake in Haiti in 2010, the humanitarian organization started to involved PTs who dealt with the rehabilitation needs of persons with disabilities (PWDs) and this seemingly indicated a shift from only focusing on the acute emergency medical response to including long-term recovery. Methods: This study is a narrative review that synthesizes literature searched in the field of the allied health professions, medicine and social science in the databases PubMed, Web of Knowledge and CINAHL. Discussion: An examination of injury pattern in post-disaster and violent conflict settings and medical needs associated with the recent increase in non-communicable diseases (NCDs) indicate a need to include physical rehabilitation in emergency medical responses. The emphasis is on discussing whether rehabilitation needs have been met for PWDs post-disaster and in situ violent conflicts. The discussion of physiotherapy (PT) in emergency medical responses in the light of the CRPD provides ethical arguments for and against an inclusive emergency response. Conclusion: Physical rehabilitation should be part of mainstream emergency medical responses in future post-disaster and violent conflict settings. An inclusive humanitarian approach can be achieved by including PWDs and PT into disaster response planning and preparedness.

Keywords: physiotherapy, rehabilitation, disabled persons, relief work, disaster, conflict, emergency medicine, human rights

Acronyms and Abbreviations

ADLs - Activities of daily living

ΒI - Barthel Index

CBR - Community-based rehabilitation

- Christian Blind Mission **CBM**

- Center for Research on the Epidemiology of Disaster **CRED** - Convention on the Rights for Persons with Disabilities **CRPD**

- Disability-Adjusted Live Years **DALYs** - Doctor of Physiotherapy Program DPT

- Deep Vein Thrombosis DVT

- Emergency medical assistance **EMA** - Explosive remnants of war **ERW** - Global health initiative **GHI**

HCRI - Humanitarian Conflict and Response Institute

- Healing Hands for Haiti International HHHI

- Handicap International HI **HRQOL** - Health-related quality of life

- High-income country HIC

- Institutional-based rehabilitation **IBR**

- International Committee of the Red Cross **ICRC**

IED - Improvised explosive devices

- International Year of Disabled Persons **IYDP**

LIC - Low-income country

- Low- and middle-income countries **LMICs MDG** - Millennium Development Goals - Medical Subject Headings MeSH - Middle-income country **MIC** - Medecins Sans Frontieres **MSF NCD** - Non-communicable disease NGO - Non-governmental organization - Operation Enduring Freedom **OEF** - Operation Iraqi Freedom **OIF** OT - Occupational Therapy - Primary health care **PHC**

- Prosthetics and Orthotics PT - Physiotherapy - Physiotherapists PTs

P&O

- Persons with disabilities **PWDs**

- Quality of life OOL

- Speech and Language Therapy **SLT**

- Spinal cord injury SCI - Traumatic brain injury **TBI**

- United Nations UN

- United Nations Disaster Relief Coordinator **UNDRC**

- United Nations Children's Fund UNICEF

WCPT - World Confederation for Physical Therapy

- World Report on Disability WRD - World Health Organization WHO

WWII - World War Two

Introduction

The preamble of the *Convention on the Rights for Persons with Disabilities* (CRPD) describes disability as a concept that evolved as a consequence of environmental and attitudinal barriers, which restricts the full participation of persons with impairments on an equal basis with others in our society (Women's Refugee Commission, 2008). The *World Report on Disability* WRD (2011) describes disability as an umbrella term, which includes concepts of impairment and limitations in activity and participation of the individual in its specific environment. Disability is diverse and includes the child born with a physical or intellectual disability, the soldier with a war injury, persons with invisible sensory problems, middle-aged persons with arthritis and the older person with diabetes mellitus. Of the estimated one billion persons living with disabilities worldwide, 80 percent live in low-and middle-income countries (LMICs) (WRD, 2011). The number also includes those who have impairments due to age (Chan and Zoellick in WRD, 2011).

The WRD (2011) described rehabilitation in the context of persons with disabilities (PWDs) as measurements that assist PWDs in order to achieve and maintain the best function as possible, to attain self-dependence and to be able to interact with their environment. Physiotherapy (PT), Occupational Therapy (OT) and Speech and Language Therapy (SLT) are allied health professions that are primarily part of medical rehabilitation. Physiotherapy (PT) was last defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) in 1969, as the "art and science" of providing exercise programs for muscle strengthening, stretching and coordination as well as work with light, hydrotherapy, heat and cold, and providing massage and manual tests to estimate the muscle strength, nerve supply, functional abilities, range of joint motion and measure vital capacities. More recently, the World Confederation for Physical Therapy (WCPT) noted that no global definition for PT exists. It gives the

responsibility to national PT associations to define the role and scope of practice of physiotherapists (PTs) according to their national health care needs and practices (WCPT, 2011). The WCPT (WCPT website, no page number, 2013) only notes that "physiotherapists are the specialists in human activity and movement" and provide service for people at any stage of life to improve the quality of life (QOL) in the sphere of physical, emotional, psychological and social wellbeing. In LMICs, the ratio of PTs to population can be as low as one physiotherapist for 530,375 persons in need (WCPT, 2013). In most cases, family members are the only ones who provide care for PWDs. A study on physical rehabilitation for people with spinal cord injuries (SCIs) post-disaster found that physiotherapists, together with physiatrists and social workers, are the most needed in the rehabilitation of people with disaster-related disabilities (Rauch, et al., 2011). On that account, the focus of this study will be on the provision of PT in emergency medical responses.

Although physical rehabilitation has its roots in the military, and both disasters and violent conflicts cause acute and long-term disability, physical rehabilitation has historically rarely been included in humanitarian medical responses. This may be partly related to the fact that a disaster is, as the Center for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters (CRED) defines (2012, p. 7) "an unforeseen and often sudden event that causes great damage, destruction and human suffering" and "which overwhelms local capacity, necessitating a request to a national or international level for external assistance". Disasters can have different causes, which include: geophysical, meteorological, hydrological, climatological and biological (CRED, 2012), or be man-made. The latter was introduced as "complex humanitarian emergencies" in humanitarian aid. The term describes situations of armed conflict, food shortage, a collapsing infrastructure and public health system and a large refugee population (Brennan and Nandy, 2001; Zibulewsky, 2001). According to Brennan and Nandy (2001),

"complex humanitarian emergencies" cause more mortality and morbidity through disease, malnutrition and violent trauma than other types of disasters. In a disaster response resources are often distributed according to the needs of the majority of the population. Priority is often not given to the needs of PWDs who are a minority group. In disaster responses, PWDs are more likely to be left behind, refugee shelters are inaccessible and humanitarian organizations view the health needs of PWDs as "complex medical" needs (UN enable, 2013; Mirza, 2011; Kett and Van Ommeren, 2009; Reilly, 2010).

The SPHERE handbook (2011) describes the core standards of disaster relief, which include: water supply; sanitation and hygiene promotion; food security and nutrition; shelter; settlement and non-food items; and health action. According to the SPHERE (2011) guidelines, essential health action consists of: the control of communicable diseases, child health, sexual and reproductive health, injury care, mental health and care for non-communicable diseases (NCDs). It includes health-related rehabilitation for post-operative injury and NCDs in its guidelines and is thus in line with the CRPD (SPHERE, 2011). The Priorities in disaster responses cannot be defined universally but need to be assessed according to the specific needs of the population (WHO, 2002).

The CRPD was adopted in 2006 and put into force in 2008. It created the legal framework for PWDs to be integrated into all spheres of life, including disasters, emergencies and conflict. Article 25 of the CRPD describes that PWDs should have equal access to health services, in particular to physical rehabilitation, in all contexts. Article 11 (2006, p. 10) states that nation states have the obligation in accordance with international humanitarian law and international human rights law, to intervene in order to "... ensure the protection and safety of persons with disabilities in situations of risk, including situations of armed conflict, humanitarian

emergencies and the occurrence of natural disasters". The commitment to include PWDs in disaster response is further stated in Article 4, which says that nations are obliged to protect PWDs from discrimination by promoting their human rights. Article 32 supports the view that international cooperation, including international development programs, should have an inclusive approach and be accessible for PWDs (CRPD, 2006). To date, 132 nations ratified the CRPD and 155 countries signed the convention (UN Enable, 2013).

Since 2008, many non-governmental organizations (NGOs) that do not work exclusively with PWDs, have endorsed the CRPD. The *Women's Refugee Commission* published *Disabilities among refugees and conflict-affected populations* in 2008, the University of Oxford Center for Refugee Studies published the *Forced Migration review* on *Disability and Displacement* in 2010 and the *United Nations Children's Fund Report* (UNICEF) on *Children with Disabilities 2013* devoted two chapters to children with disabilities in a humanitarian crisis. With the CRPD and the WRD, the foundations have been laid to follow an inclusive approach in humanitarian settings, which is supposed to encompass the needs of PWDs in all stages of an emergency response. Within that inclusive humanitarian approach falls the need to provide physical rehabilitation service to PWDs. As it is stated in the WRD (2011, p. 108): "Conflict and natural disaster cause injuries and disabilities and make people with existing disabilities more vulnerable... Foreign aid should also include trauma care and rehabilitation services".

Background

The Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), which were set in 2000, address urgent development issues for populations who live in poverty and are marginalized. However, PWDs were not explicitly mentioned in the MDGs (Groce and Trani, 2009). Not addressing the needs of PWDs within development makes it even harder to implement measures of inclusion for PWDs in post-disaster and violent conflict settings. Additionally, it has been shown that even in peacetimes in low-income countries (LICs), health care inequalities for PWDs exist on several levels, including access, financing and delivery (WRD, 2011). The WRD (2011) notes that although, PWDs have a right to receive assistance and care during conflict and after disasters, the needs of PWDs are often not considered because humanitarian organizations have little awareness of the existence of PWDs in emergency settings or they do not know how to respond to their needs. This is the case for both persons with disaster-unrelated and persons with disaster-related disabilities.

It has been observed that studies of injuries in violent conflict or post-disaster settings focus mainly on mortality, although disaster and conflict-related injuries are recognized as main contributors to disability, the outcome of morbidity has been neglected (WRD, 2011). It is important to note that physical rehabilitation is essential for some PWDs, if they are to take an active part in education, the work force and social life. Unmet rehabilitation needs may affect the person's independency in ways such as, cause deterioration in health, increase the need for assistance from others and reduce the QOL. This can have a negative impact on the social and financial situation of the individual, their families and the community as a whole (WRD, 2011). The positive effects of physical rehabilitation on permanent disabilities are already established in high-income settings and the military services of high-income countries (HICs) including PTs in their medical teams. Before examining the need for physical rehabilitation

after traumatic injuries the epidemiology of such injuries need to be explored. This will allow a discussion on whether PT should be included in early medical intervention to reduce the risk of complications and permanent disabilities.

Rationale

LMICs are more affected by disaster, violent conflict and inadequate medical care than HICs (UN Enable, 2013). In many LMICs, health-related rehabilitation such as PT is not established as a profession. Physical rehabilitation is often only provided by NGOs and most PWDs do not receive rehabilitation. As to my knowledge, rehabilitation responses after disasters and violent conflicts, before and after the CRPD came into force, have not been compared in detail. It is important to discuss physical rehabilitation in humanitarian crisis settings in the light of the CRPD and to see whether the rights of PWDs are protected in this context. The study will examine the potential role of PT in a humanitarian medical response from four different angles: the injury pattern of conflict and disasters will determine whether there is a need for physical rehabilitation; the ability of emergency medical assistance (EMA) to meet the need for persons who survived an injury with permanent disability and those who have pre-existing disabilities; empirical data of PT involvement in emergency responses and its impact on the QOL for PWDs; and finally, the legal frame of the CRPD, promoting inclusive humanitarian responses, which encompass meeting health care and rehabilitation needs of PWDs. Within the limits of this study, the focus will be on the role of PT as a healthrelated intervention in disaster responses and it will only examine the needs of persons with permanent physical disabilities.

Objectives

The study has the primary objectives to:

- Examine the epidemiology of injuries and disabilities in violent conflict and postdisaster to determine rehabilitation needs
- Discuss the conceptual frame of EMA in the light of rehabilitation needs of PWDs
- Examine experiences with PT to address rehabilitation needs and how PT impacts on the QOL of PWDs in violent conflict and post-disaster settings

The secondary objective is to:

- Address whether the rights of PWDs in the field of health, as formulated in the CRPD, are met in "contemporary" emergency medical responses

Methodology

Narrative review

This study is a literature review in a narrative style, which examines the role of PT in humanitarian medical responses. A narrative review was thought to be the most appropriate methodology because it allows scope to discuss evolving concepts and controversies and to synthesize the literature to draw a conclusion from the gathered evidence (Collins and Fauser, 2005; Green, et al., 2006). The databases PubMed, Web of Knowledge, and CINAHL were searched for relevant literature. Google, Google Scholar and websites of NGOs, working in disaster relief, were searched for grey literature. The University of Bergen (UiB) Library catalogue was searched for books and e-books. The literature search focused on four different topics and an electronic literature search was conducted for each database between 6th May 2013 and 5th June 2013. Peer-reviewed literature and grey literature that was published from 1969 through 5th June 2013 and which was available online was eligible. The year 1969 was chosen because the WHO published its second, which is also the latest report on medical rehabilitation in that year and provided a definition of physiotherapy. The following medical subject headings (MeSH) were used for the search: physical therapy (speciality), physiotherapy (speciality), rehabilitation, disabled persons, disasters, conflict, emergency medicine, relief work and human rights. Other search terms that are not part of the MeSH terminology but are more focused were used too. Those search terms include: persons with disabilities, rehabilitation needs, healthcare needs, earthquake, physical rehabilitation, quality of life, global health, emergency response, disaster response, humanitarian rehabilitation, rapid rehabilitation disaster response, war-injury, combat-injury, Iraq, Afghanistan, epidemiology of disability, emergency medical assistance, humanitarian medical response and emergency medical response. Afghanistan and Iraq were used as search terms in order to find information about modern war injuries and physiotherapy involvement in the military.

A more semi-systematic approach to the literature search was used for the chapters one to three, where pragmatic decisions had to be made on the combinations of the search terms due to the large amount of literature found on the databases. For the forth chapter, grey literature provided the main source for the discussion. Tables one to four show the search in detail and the different combinations of MeSH terms and search terms used in the search query text. Additionally, the reference lists of core articles were searched for relevant papers and five studies were included that way.

Table 1: Tracking of literature search for chapter 1: Violent conflict and post-disaster settings: the epidemiology of injuries and pre-existing disabilities

Search term	PubMed	Web of Knowledge	CINAHL	Total
"war injury" OR "combat injury" AND "Iraq" OR "Afghanistan"	68	57	13	138
"epidemiology of disability" AND "conflict"	80	194	20	294
"rehabilitation needs" OR "healthcare needs" AND "emergency response" OR "emergency medicine" OR "disaster response"	69	5	2	76
Total	217	256	35	508

Table 2: Tracking of literature search for chapter 2: The concept of emergency medical assistance

Search terms	PubMed	Web of Knowledge		Total
"emergency medical assistance" OR "humanitarian medical response" OR "emergency medical response" AND "physical therapy" OR "physiotherapy" OR "physical rehabilitation"	91	0	3	94
"humanitarian rehabilitation" OR "rapid rehabilitation disaster response"	121	1	1	123
"physical therapy" OR "physiotherapy" AND "disaster response" OR "emergency response"	4	0	4	8
Total	216	1	8	225

Table 3: Tracking of literature search for chapter 3: The role of physiotherapy in emergency medical responses

Search terms	PubMed	Web of	f CINAHL	Total
		Knowledge		
"physical	4	10	0	14
therapy" OR				
"physiotherapy"				
OR "physical				
rehabilitation"				
AND "disabled				
persons" OR				
"persons with				
disabilities"				
AND "disasters"				
"physical	196	45	23	264
therapy" OR				

"physiotherapy" AND "disasters" AND "quality of life"				
"physical therapy" OR "physiotherapy" AND "global health"	324	0	7	331
"disaster" AND "relief work" AND "physical rehabilitation" OR "physical therapy" OR "physiotherapy"	7	4	0	11
"physical therapy" OR "physiotherapy" OR "physical rehabilitation" AND "earthquake"	73	24	7	104
•	604	83	37	724

Table 4: Tracking of literature search for chapter 4: Inclusive emergency responses

Search terms	PubMed	Web of	CINAHL	Total
		Knowledge		
"human rights"	35	10	2	47
AND "disabled				
persons" AND				
"disaster" OR				
"conflict"				
Total	35	10	2	47

A total of 1504 peer-reviewed studies were found in the databases, of which 1307 were not relevant to the topic according to the title, not freely accessible or duplicates. Of 197 studies, the abstracts were read and considered for the review. Of the remaining 197 studies, 118 were excluded and 84 (including the five studies from the reference lists) included in the findings and discussion section based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

General inclusion and exclusion criteria

Peer-reviewed articles and grey literature were included when they met all of the following criteria:

- 1. All types of studies (qualitative, quantitative, case studies, experience reports, systematic reviews, narrative reviews, editorials) were included in the narrative when they had a component about physical rehabilitation in a violent conflict or post-disaster setting; evaluated the rehabilitation outcome for war- and disaster-related injuries or evaluated the rehabilitation response after disaster and violent conflict settings
- 2. The population (all ages) with permanent disaster-related and disaster-unrelated physical disabilities were considered
- 3. Studies in LMICs and HICs
- 4. Literature in English, German and French

Studies were excluded according to the following criteria:

- Studies which were not accessible in full length through UiB and University College London (UCL) libraries
- 2. Community-based rehabilitation (CBR) exclusively discussed in the context of development

Specific inclusion criteria

Peer-reviewed articles and grey literature were included when they met the following criteria:

Chapter 1. "Violent conflict and post-disaster settings: the epidemiology of injuries and preexisting disabilities"

- Studies of injury pattern of different types of natural disasters
- Modern conflict setting, which are characterized by the use of explosive devices as they changed the pattern of injuries

Chapter 3. "The role of physiotherapy in emergency medical responses"

- Studies in non-disaster settings which discuss physiotherapy for PWDs in the context of quality of life

Chapter 4. "Inclusive emergency responses"

Literature on the rights of PWDs which was published after the adoption of the CRPD in 2006

Findings and Discussion

1. Violent conflicts and post-disaster settings: the epidemiology of injuries and pre-existing disabilities

Natural disasters and political conflict have an impact on the morbidity and mortality of a population. Long-term disability following a natural disaster and political conflict can have a burdening impact on the individual, community and society (Zhang, et al., 2013; Kerridge, et al., 2012). Long-term effects of conflict on mortality and life expectancy have been acknowledged but no study has looked at the long-term impact of conflict on disability and non-fatal outcomes (Kerridge, et al., 2012). Additionally, the burden of morbidity and disability after a natural disaster is poorly described in the literature (Kerridge, et al., 2012). Overall there is a lack of documentation of war-related injuries among civilians and therefore it is difficult to estimate how many people are affected by conflict and what their long-term outcomes are. I will also focus on the burden of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) in the context of conflict and post-disaster settings as recent literature suggests, conflict and disaster trigger an increase of NCDs. The aging population and the increase of wealth in middleincome countries (MICs) leads to higher rates of persons with NCDs and those countries are as well more often affected by disaster and conflict than HICs (Kerridge, et al., 2012; Mirza, 2011; Durham and Hoy, 2013; Lopez, et al., 2006). This chapter aims to describe the epidemiology of injuries in violent conflict and post-disaster that leads to permanent disability and the epidemiology of pre-existing disabilities in that setting. I will look at the injury pattern in order to examine the necessity to include physical rehabilitation in humanitarian responses.

1.1 The epidemiology of disaster and violent conflict-related injuries

1.1.1 Injury patterns in a disaster context

Scientific documentation of injury pattern after natural disasters was carried out after the earthquakes in Pakistan in 2005, the Sichuan earthquake in China in 2008, Indonesia in 2009 and Haiti in 2010. Indonesia, Pakistan and China are MICs whereas Haiti is a LIC (World Bank, 2011). A study by Zhang, et al. (2012) found that fractures were the most common injuries among earthquake-related injuries in the Sichuan earthquake in 2008. However, the study failed to distinguish between fractures of different body parts. Thus it is difficult to conclude what the needs for surgical care and rehabilitation were since these differ enormously for fractures of, for example, the vertebrae and the upper extremity. In the Indonesian earthquake in West Sumatra in 2009, fractures to both upper and/or lower limbs were reported as the most frequent (72%), followed by fractures of the lower limb (58%), face, head and neck (26%), upper limb (23%) and the vertebrae column (18.6%) (Sudaryo, et al., 2012). The most common earthquake injuries reported in Haiti were laceration and bleeding wounds, fractures, SCIs, internal head injuries, internal organ injury and neck or back injuries (Doocy, et al., 2013; Iezzoni and Ronan, 2010; Etienne, et al., 2010; Sullivan, et al., 2010). Winter, et al. (2011) note that most patients with injuries to air-filled organs, severe bleeding and severe traumatic brain injury (TBI) did not survive the first hours because of the lack of medical relief.

After the earthquake in Pakistan in 2005, with a death toll of 73,338 and an injury rate of 128,309, 741 cases with SCI were registered, followed by 713 cases with amputations as a cause of permanent disability (Mallick, et al., 2010). Amputations are common after earthquakes as it is often a consequence of crushed limbs and mismanagement of fractures and open wounds (Sudaryo, et al., 2012). SCI requires surgical emergency and special care to

avoid additional neurological injuries. The rate of SCI patients is often increased when patients with spinal fractures are transported in ordinary vehicles and lifted without supporting the injured spine (Rathore, et al., 2008). In Pakistan paraplegia (paralysis of both lower limbs) was found in 89% of SCI patients and no tetraplegia (paralysis of upper and lower limbs) was detected (Rathore, et al., 2008). Those numbers are consistent with another study of the epidemiology of SCI after the earthquake in Pakistan, which shows that 71% of 741 SCI patients developed paraplegia (Mallick, et al., 2010). The study of patients with SCIs after the Sichuan earthquake in China notes that 43% of the SCI patients had thoracolumbar lesions, 29% had thoracic injuries and 9% cervical lesions (Li, et al., 2012). All three studies found that females and the age group 18 - 40 were the most affected by SCI (Rathore, et al., 2008; Mallick, et al., 2010; Li, et al., 2012). In Haiti, the number of people with SCIs was more difficult to estimate because of the lack of local surveillance systems and research. It has been estimated that 200 people were affected (Landry, 2010) and other international research teams note that of the overall population, 18.4% had fractures and 8.8% had head and neck injuries (Doocy, et al., 2013), without specifying the location or degree of injury. A pilot project on rehabilitation needs for people with SCIs post-earthquake looked at 18 people with SCIs and found predominantly thoracic lesion followed by lumbar and cervical injuries (Rauch, et al., 2011), which is consistent with studies from other earthquakes.

The epidemiology of amputations has been investigated after the earthquakes in China, Indonesia and Haiti. A study in China found that the majority of amputations were below the knee, followed by amputations of digits and of the lower limb above the knee, both one-sided and on both sides (Li, et al., 2009). In Indonesia it was observed that the majority of injuries were fractures to upper and lower extremities (81%), which resulted in 9% having amputations (Sudaryo, et al., 2012). The number of people who underwent amputations after

the Haitian earthquake is unclear. It was estimated that over 1500 people had an amputation of one or more limbs (Knowlton, et al., 2011; Landry, et al., 2010; O'Connell and Ingersoll, 2012). Of those amputations observed by research teams, lower extremities amputations above the knee where the most common, followed by amputations below the knee and upper limb amputations (O'Connell and Ingersoll, 2012). Redmond, et al. (2011) looked at the data of seven surgery providers and found that 1,476 amputations had been carried out, with the majority being lower extremities amputations.

Many studies of the mentioned earthquakes have concentrated on the care and rehabilitation of SCIs and a few have highlighted the need for rehabilitation for people with upper limb and lower limb amputation as well as fractures (O'Donnell and Ingersoll, 2012; Zhang, et al., 2012). SCI and amputation have the greatest impact on mobility and ambulation, which affects the activities of daily life (ADLs) and QOL heavily. Persons with neurological or trauma injuries thus require early rehabilitative input to re-learn how to adapt their environment to their disability. Persons with a fracture of the vertebrae column or fractures of both lower and/or upper limbs need more intensive physical rehabilitation input (including OT) than a person with a single limb fractures. The latter two could be seen as short-term disabilities as their rehabilitation input is determined by the healing process, whereas for a person with a fractures vertebrae column, which could become a permanent disability, physical rehabilitation may be indicated long-term.

1.1.2 Injury patterns in a violent conflict context

In armed conflicts, war-related injuries are determined by the use of the type of weapons or explosive devices (Cukier, 2008). I will only look at injury patterns in modern violent conflicts because the nature of weapons used in armed conflicts has changed since both the World Wars, resulting in a changing epidemiology of injuries. Willy, et al. (2011) note that during World War Two (WWII) injuries of the upper and lower extremities were equally common, whereas in modern conflicts injuries to the lower extremity is predominant due to wider use of antipersonnel mines, fragmenting munitions, e.g. mortars, bombs and shells, artillery, improvised explosive devices (IED) and rocket-propelled grenades (Sayer, et al., 2009; Cukier, 2008).

Two papers have described the injury pattern leading to permanent disability in Afghanistan and Lebanon. In South Lebanon, after the attack "Grapes of Wrath" in 1996, among the study population the most disabling injuries were those to the lower extremities and the abdomen, caused by explosives (Sibai, et al., 2000). The literature review on war-related injuries among Afghan refugees in Pakistan found that the majority of injuries were caused by explosives, with injuries to the extremities as the most common and injuries to the head as the second most common (Nasir, et al., 2004). Mortality, war-related injuries and disabilities are well documented for combatants from the United States (U.S.), the United Kingdom (UK) and Germany who served in the wars in Afghanistan (Operation Enduring Freedom) and in Iraq (Operation Iraqi Freedom) (U.S. and UK only). Most injuries resulted from explosives according to studies on combat injuries of Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF) between 2003 and 2010, and Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) in Afghanistan since 2001 (Melcer, et al., 2013). One paper notes that 88% of injuries to combatants are caused by blasts from explosive devices (Warden, 2006). The U.S. Casualties Statistics on OIF and OEF show that

the majority of war-related injuries of combatants were TBIs, counting for 253,330 cases between January 2000 and August 2012. 77% were mild TBIs, 17% were categorized as moderate TBIs, and 2% were severe TBIs. Amputations of lower and upper extremities counted for a total of 1,715, with a majority being lower extremities amputations (Fischer, 2013). TBIs are claimed to be the "signature injury" for the military operations in Iraq and Afghanistan due to blasts waves according to several studies (Willy, et al., 2008; Sayer, et al., 2009; Warden, 2006). However, these numbers are not consistent with findings from other studies, which have shown that injuries to the extremities, in particular the lower extremities are the most frequent due to explosions (Pasquier, et al., 2011; Masini, et al., 2009). One study examined SCIs among combatants of the OIF and OEF and found that 29 out 390 injured soldiers (7.4%) sustained a combat-related SCI, which resulted from explosive devices (Schoenfeld, et al., 2012).

Lower limb amputations are documented as the main disabling injury among civilians after conflicts in areas that are contaminated with land mines. The post Indo-China War in 1975 in Cambodia and Lao People Democratic Republic left a large amount of land mines and other explosive remnants of war (ERW). A systematic literature review examined the injury pattern of land mines in Lao People Democratic Republic and Cambodia and found the following: amputation of lower extremities was the most common, multiple laceration the second most common and upper extremity amputation, blindness and head injury were the third most common injuries. The study, however, was limited by the scarcity of data available (Durham and Hoy, 2013). Levy and Sidel (2008) state that in post-war Cambodia it is estimated that 1 in 236 people is an amputee, which is related to land mine explosions. It is estimated that one-third of Ethiopian soldiers were disabled after the civil war in 1991 and more than 40,000 civilians lost one or more limbs due to landmines (Levy and Sidel, 2008). Willy, et al. (2008)

note that 6% of U.S. combatants in the OIF were amputees, caused by IEDs. Compared to previous conflicts, the incidence rate of amputation doubled (Willy, et al., 2008). The nature of injury is determined by the setting and the type of weapons used (Polly Jr. 2003 in Willy, et al., 2011) but the review of modern wars where injury patterns are well documented shows that TBIs, amputations and SCIs are among the most prevalent of war-related injuries, potentially leading to a permanent disability. These injuries indicate a need for early intervention of physical rehabilitation (including OT and SLT) in order to minimize complications, which could lead to more severe permanent disabilities.

1.2 The burden of pre-existing disabilities in violent conflict and disaster settings

It is difficult to determine how many PWDs live in areas that are prone to armed conflicts and natural disasters because often PWDs are invisible due to social constructs and a lack of disabled friendly infrastructure. On that account, PWDs are also at greater risk to be neglected during an emergency situation (Shivij, 2010). The WRD acknowledges the difficulty to estimate the prevalence of PWDs on a national level in LMICs. Additionally, different definitions of disability are used in different cultures and a low prevalence of disability in LICs may be due to the fact that the term disability is used in a narrow sense, whereas in HICs it is higher because people with NCDs are included in the definition (WRD, 2011).

The *Global Burden of Disease* study in 2004 found that the risks of NCDs are higher in LMICs than in HICs. Although NCDs were associated with HICs because and ageing populations, the increase in NCDs in LMICs suggests that the risk of the burden of cardiovascular disease, ischemic heart disease and stroke is higher in those countries, when the age distribution is controlled for through the age standardization of disability-adjusted life

years (DALYs) (WHO, 2008). Mirza (2011) and Spiegel, et al. (2010) suggest that among conflict-affected countries, in particular MICs, an ageing population means that there is a need to include services for chronic diseases in disaster and conflict settings. Several studies note that the burden of morbidity and mortality of people with NCDs may increase during conflict or disaster, as they are more vulnerable to stress during an emergency situation due to for example, the lack of supply of medication (WHO, 2011; Chan and Kim, 2011; Reinhardt, et al., 2011; Spiegel, et al., 2010). Kerridge, et al. (2012) claim that people who experienced armed conflict have a greater risk of mortality and disability due to an exacerbation of NCDs, such as cardiovascular disease. After the Sichuan earthquake in 2008, 30% admissions to the hospital were related to an exacerbation of NCDs as a direct effect by the earthquake (Chan and Kim, 2011). One study in Japan found that people with existing non-communicable diseases were at greater risk of physical symptoms such as insomnia, chest pain and cold as well as mental stress compared to people with NCDs who did not live through the earthquake (Mori, et al., 2007). There is limited data on the prevalence of persons with pre-existing disabilities in violent conflict- or post-disaster settings, as they are not a priority in health and population research (Rockhold and McDonald, 2009).

2. The concept of emergency medical assistance

Natural disasters and man-made disasters affect mostly LMICs but natural disasters occur in HICs too. EMA however differs enormously between HICs and LMICs. Medical responses to disasters are determined by the existence of a well-functioning primary health care (PHC) system, a system for emergency preparedness and disaster reduction, and the emergency response and humanitarian action that countries are able to receive by the international community. It is important to distinguish between PHC, EMA and emergency preparedness, as each has a different paradigm. In this chapter, the concept of EMA is discussed in close relation to PHC and it will show that despite the different paradigms of PHC, EMA, emergency preparedness, they cannot be fully separated in many real-life situations. This is seen in programs from Medecins Sans Frontieres (MSF) for example, whose strategy and philosophy is based on EMA but who also provide PHC and who establish rehabilitation centers.

2.1 The paradigms of "traditional" emergency medical assistance and primary health care

In the literature EMA is also called emergency medical response, emergency medicine, disaster medicine, humanitarian medical response and humanitarian medical assistance (MSF, 2013; Van Damme, et al., 2002; Waeckerle, et al., 1994). With a weak public health system in place in complex humanitarian emergencies EMA is often provided by foreign relief organizations to the population in need. Traditionally, disaster medicine has the intention to provide medical assistance in a disaster setting on the utilitarian principle "the greatest good for the greatest number" (Waeckerle, et al., 1994). This principle means that the distribution of resources is guided by the benefit of the majority of the people in need and therefore, does

not meet the needs of those who have needs outside the mainstream. Disaster medicine has its roots in war traumatology and surgery and has developed into a more comprehensive management of disasters, which evolved with medical knowledge and research (Dara, et al., 2005). The paradigm of EMA places physical survival as its main goal as it is the foundation for further human development and mobilizing all resources available to achieve the goal of saving as many lives as possible (Van Damme, et al., 2002). Effectiveness of the interventions is prioritized in emergency situations with a tendency to jeopardize autonomy and independence. It has been noted that the relationship between medical professionals and those people in need develop into a paternalistic arrangement within EMA. A further characteristic of EMA is that cure is prioritized over care and autonomy (Van Damme, et al., 2002).

The Alma Ata conference in 1978 defined PHC as a holistic health intervention, including prevention, cure, rehabilitation and community-based interventions into its program (Alma-Ata, 1978). The *Alma-Ata Declaration* was the first step to mobilize for social justice and the right to health care for all. The *World Health Report 2008* on *The Changing Health Problems*, addressed new patterns of disease such as the rise of NCDs on a global scale (WHO, 2008). In HICs, chronic diseases, as a public health problem have been incorporated into emergency preparedness even before the *World Health Report*. One example is hurricane Katrina in 2005 in the U.S., where studies have shown that of those people visiting a clinic immediately after the disaster, 33% had chronic health problems, which were exacerbated with the disaster (Miller and Aquilla, 2008; Chiou-Tan, et al., 2007). The example of hurricane Katrina bridges a gap between providing emergency response in order to save lives and to maintain PHC services to those with chronic health problems (Redwood-Campbell, et al., 2011).

An acute emergency response is bound to a time limit and three phases have been described in complex emergencies and natural disasters. Governments, humanitarian organizations and other stakeholders operate during these phases to provide the most efficient support. According to Redwood-Campbell and Riddez (2006), and Burkholder and Toole (1995), the first phase is the acute emergency phase from zero to one month post-disaster, the second phase is the late emergency phase, from one month to six months after the disaster and the third phase is the post-emergency phase, which lasts for more than six months after the event. More recent literature suggests that an acute emergency phase lasts only a few days after the disaster, as lives can be saved only in those first few days and after that, health professionals should concentrate on community needs and PHC capabilities (Redwood-Campbell, et al, 2011). The timeframe in emergency settings is an important factor, as experience reports from multiple medical professionals, including surgeons, neurologists, anesthetists and orthopedics suggest, most surgeries on crushed limbs, fractures, SCIs and TBIs were performed within the first two weeks after the earthquake in Haiti, which were then followed by wound care and closure prioritization (Etienne, et al., 2010; Winter, et al., 2011; Sullivan, et al., 2010; Iezzoni and Ronan, 2010). The latter two priorities would fall under the responsibility of PTs and nurses and incorporate physical rehabilitation in the early stages of healing. If we take the suggestion of Redwood-Campbell, et al. (2011) as guidance that the acute emergency phase lasts only a few days, PHC and rehabilitation services would need to be included after the first few days, in the late emergency phase. In other words, according to the old timeframe, PHC and rehabilitation would fall under the acute emergency phase. Winter, et al. (2011) note that in the first few days after the earthquake in Haiti medical personnel worked to save as many lives with as little risk for permanent disability as possible. Saving lives still applies as the sole principle of the EMA intervention within the first few days after a disaster. The time factor however plays a role and further interventions are necessary after those first few days

that provide follow-up care and rehabilitation to prevent secondary complications and disabilities. For that reason, rehabilitation services have a place in EMA as firstly, the acute phase is quickly succeeded by the late emergency phase and secondly, EMA needs and PHC needs may overlap within those first few days.

2.2 "Contemporary" emergency medical assistance: from acute emergency to long-term recovery and primary health care?

A theoretical foundation was established that described EMA not as solely providing "the greatest good for the greatest number" but expanded the concept of EMA toward a more holistic approach. According to Waeckerle, et al. (1994), emergency relief in disasters need to take into account the basic needs of people during all stages of a disastrous event. Gunn (1990, cited in Waeckerle, et al., 1994) describes the concept of EMA as a holistic concept which includes several health disciplines e.g. pediatrics, epidemiology, communicable disease, public health, emergency medicine and community care, in order to deal with the health problems from the aspects of prevention, immediate response and rehabilitation. This definition of EMA might be difficult to achieve by an international collaboration but requires local emergency preparedness and disaster reduction strategies. The WHO introduced the concept of emergency preparedness and disaster reduction, stating that a disaster reduction plan is part of a country's development and includes disaster reduction in the public health sector (WHO, 2007). In2005 the WHO urged nation states to implement emergency preparedness in public health and to build capacities of disaster preparedness on a national level and in communities (WHO, 2007). Where previous literature suggested a multidisciplinary disaster medical response independently from PHC, more recent studies discuss EMA from a perspective of PHC, claiming that strengthening PHC in LICs would, at the same time, strengthen disaster preparedness and therefore emergency medical responses (Redwood-Campbell and Abrahams, 2011). Redwood-Campbell and Abrahams (2011) conducted a literature review with the search terms "PHC" and "disaster" and found a need for improvement of PHC for the treatment of chronic diseases, mental health and the provision of PHC soon after a disaster. It was concluded that PHC is important for an effective emergency medical response and building of an emergency preparedness and disaster response system. The WHO and Redwood-Campbell and Abrahams (2011) discuss strengthening of PHC in LICs being not only good for communities in peacetimes but also, as it is already seen in high-and middle-income countries, to manage disasters more effectively. The disaster response community supports the concept of strengthening PHC in LICs to make communities healthier and to see EMA from a PHC perspective (Redwood-Campbell and Abrahams, 2011).

That PHC and EMA cannot be fully separated is seen in the work of MSF, the French non-governmental organization. MSF describes itself as an organization providing EMA for people in conflict, natural disaster, epidemics, and to those excluded from healthcare. MSF is an independent organization, which receives the majority of its funds from private sources, and only a very limited amount from governments (MSF, 2013). Over the years MSF has developed from an organization that provided only emergency aid to an organization with long-term programs in countries with a weak PHC system. Providing health care for people who are excluded from health care is very broad area and according to Van Damme's definition does not fall into the category of EMA. MSF's care for amputees in Sierra Leone is only one example of many, where their involvement was part of a rehabilitation program. After the civil war in Sierra Leone, upper extremities amputations were common. People with upper limb amputations experienced chronic neuropathic pain, which led MSF to open a pain

clinic in 2001 to treat those with neuropathic pain and other patients with chronic pain syndromes (Lacoux and Ford, 2002). Another example of rehabilitation involvement is the provision of psychological care for victims of the tsunami and earthquake in Japan in 2011. Two months after the disaster, the medical infrastructure in the affected region was already stabilized, MSF moved its focus to psychological care for vulnerable people including the elderly population, single parents and those with physical disabilities and chronic diseases (MSF, 2011). MSF's efforts to care for those left out of the healthcare system is a great asset. However, if we stick to the paradigms, it does not fall under EMA but may be defined as PHC or rehabilitation service.

The emergency response after the earthquake in Haiti in 2010 is another example of a perceived shift away from traditional EMA to one that incorporates long-term recovery and is discussed within the concept of PHC (Knowlton, et al., 2011). The literature suggests that firstly, EMA can no longer be defined as only "saving lives" and neglecting care and autonomy for the sake of effectiveness but that an approach is needed that is holistic and involves prevention and recovery pre-and post-disaster (Knowlton, et al., 2011; Landry, et al., 2010). Secondly, the response in Haiti, as a LIC has shown that it is possible for humanitarian relief to be multidisciplinary and to involve several stages of recovery, including the need for rehabilitation and that, because of its weak PHC system pre-earthquake, foreign aid needs to focus on primary care to improve the infrastructure of the system and therefore strengthen emergency preparedness.

3. The role of physiotherapy in emergency medical responses

This chapter discusses the role of PT within a multidisciplinary medical rehabilitation operation in a humanitarian response. Firstly, I will provide an overview of PT and rehabilitation in global health. Secondly, I will discuss empirical examples of PT involvement in humanitarian responses. Finally, I will draw from quasi-experimental studies conducted after the Sichuan earthquake in China to examine whether the involvement of physical rehabilitation in the early and late stages of a medical emergency response has a positive impact on the QOL for persons with permanent disaster-related disabilities.

3.1 Physiotherapy and rehabilitation in global health

The concept of rehabilitation is a product of the twentieth century and the middle classes in the Western world. Post-WWII, rehabilitation developed with the injury pattern of wounded combatants and advancements in medical skills and technologies (Greenwood, 1985). As Greenwood (1985) notes, in the Western world the military service was prioritized to receive prime treatment and medical rehabilitation, followed by children with physical disabilities, the educated class with physical and sensory impairments, those with intellectual disabilities, the elderly and lastly, those who are excluded from the health care services. She also writes about the high prevalence of permanent physical disability in LMICs and argues for greater involvement of medical rehabilitation services in those settings (Greenwood, 1985).

Compared to the medical profession, PTs are only beginning to become actively involved in global health. Global health problems are already on the curriculum for medical students with global health initiatives (GHIs) and placements in resource-poor settings becoming popular. Alappat, et al. (2007) notes that GHIs have focused more on acute medical provision and

health care and so, physical rehabilitation in LMICs has been less prioritized by the global health community, which may be related to a lack of PTs involved in global health. Additionally, it is to note that the PT profession is in many countries not available. Therefore, PT in global health should not only be limited to GHIs where physical rehabilitation specialists work and exchange knowledge in LMICs but there is also a need to raise awareness of the PT profession in countries where it is non-existent. PT in global health has several tasks, including that of direct service, teaching and cooperation between educational institutions to introduce PT programs. Twinning PT schools has happened between Nigeria and the University of Michigan-Flint U.S. to establish a Doctor of Physiotherapy Program (DPT) (John, et al., 2012).

A need for rehabilitation services and in particular PT in LMICs is shown by the relationship between disability and poverty, where both disability can both be a cause of poverty and poverty can lead to an increased risk of disability (Landry, 2007). The same accounts for disability as a possible consequence of HIV/AIDS (UN Enable, 2013) as well as a number of other communicable diseases and NCDs in all age ranges. Little research has been conducted on the involvement of PTs from HICs in GHIs and educational exchange. Humphreys and Carpenter (2010) looked at PTs volunteering in LICs and found that it is most successful and effective when PTs have an interest in the culture and there is an equal share of knowledge between local and foreign PTs. Peinying, et al. (2012) examined clinical placements in LMICs for PT students and found an increase in cultural sensitivity and competency among those PT students. In the study by Alappat, et al. (2007), cultural sensitivity and competency as well as unrealistic expectations were barriers to capacity building and cooperation between foreign and local PTs. They concluded that global health themes and clinical placements should be incorporated in PT education.

3.2 Physiotherapy in post-disaster and violent conflict settings

3.2.1 Physiotherapy in post-disaster responses

The lack of follow-up care and physical rehabilitation had already been highlighted by research after the Gujarat earthquake in India in 2001. The earthquake in India left 166,000 injured and many people post-surgery developed secondary complications because follow-up care was missing (Chatterjee, 2002). India's Oxfam emergency coordinator (Chatterjee, 2002, p.327) states that "Past experience shows that disability never gets adequately addressed in post-disaster response in this country". Raissi (2007) who studied the rehabilitation needs of persons with SCIs after the earthquake in Bam, Iran in 2003, recommends that well organized international rehabilitation teams would be a great asset in disaster areas, referring to the lack of rehabilitation services to victims of the Bam earthquake. In Pakistan, after the earthquake in 2005, physical disabilities were managed by the first CBR program in this country, which led to a nationwide adoption of CBR in the management of PWDs. Institutional-based rehabilitation (IBR) was scarce and resulted in patients with SCIs and amputations developing secondary complications. The Federal Ministry of Health established a spinal cord unit with the help of Handicap International (HI), the WHO and UNICEF (Mallick, et al., 2010). This unique and successful rehabilitation system for PWDs post-disaster, combining IBR and CBR as a post-earthquake response, shows that it is possible for a country with no pre-existing rehabilitation service to establish CBR on a nationwide level for PWDs and promote knowledge and expertise for conditions such as SCIs and amputations within rehabilitation institutions as a result of the earthquake (Mallick, et al., 2010).

Harrison in 2007 conducted a qualitative study on PTs who had been involved in the early emergency phase after a disaster. She identified two roles for PTs in immediate disaster response; first, patient care which included helping with the triage, wound care, first aid as

well as musculoskeletal treatment and second, the organization of a physiotherapy service in the immediate disaster response. Harrison (2007) was the first to research the involvement of PT in an imminent emergency response and concluded that there is a role for PT, as PTs have a more holistic approach and therefore could assist physicians, as Harrison (2007, p. 464) states to "...balance this very medical focus".

3.2.2 Physiotherapy in post-earthquake Haiti

International rehabilitation responses within an emergency response only started to gain more recognition after the earthquake in Haiti in 2010, which included trauma care and rehabilitation services in EMA. The earthquake that stuck Haiti with a magnitude of 7.0, affected 3,500,000 people. Approximately 220,000 died and an estimated 300,000 were injured (Disaster Emergency Committee, 2013; Winter, et al., 2011). Within 48 hours postearthquake the first international medical teams arrived. The response by the international community in Haiti had not seen such a multidisciplinary health care provision before in a humanitarian crisis such as after the Indian Ocean Tsunami in 2004 or after other disasters such as the earthquakes in Iran in 2003 and Pakistan in 2005 (Tataryn and Blanchet, 2012). Thousands of international organizations responded to the earthquake ranging from established NGOs, UN agencies, military forces and small organizations (Tataryn and Blanchet, 2012). Academic health centers, physical therapists, prosthetic and orthotic services and physiatrists joined physicians and surgeons to deal with the vast burden of injury and disability post-earthquake (Babcock, et al., 2012; O'Connell, et al., 2012; Landry, 2010). It is estimated that 125 rehabilitation organizations were involved in the medical response in Haiti (Arie, 2012) with HI and the Christian Blind Mission (CBM) as the largest NGOs providing rehabilitation services in conflict and disaster settings. It was difficult to estimate how many PTs and rehabilitation specialists were involved in Haiti because of the fragmentation of the humanitarian response system and the poor coordination and communication between organizations (Tataryn and Blanchet, 2012).

The pronounced rehabilitation response may be related to several reasons: first, the geographical position of Haiti, being only a couple of flight hours away from the U.S.; secondly, the large number of expatriates from Haiti working as health professionals in the U.S.; and thirdly, the greater rehabilitation needs due to the survival of injured persons attributed to the immediate medical emergency response (Tataryn and Blanchet, 2012). Prior to the disaster, people with traumatic injuries such as SCI and TBI did not survive. However, due to the immediate and vast response by the international community, more people with SCIs survived (Landry, 2010; Landry, et al., 2010).

Prior to the earthquake, 800,000 persons were living with disabilities, which rose to 1.1 Million post-earthquake, making it impossible to provide follow-up care for the newly injured population as physical rehabilitation and orthopedic services were provided mainly for disabled children in two NGO-based institutions in the capital Port-au-Prince (UN Enable, 2013; Bigelow, 2010). These were funded by NGOs from the U.S. and staffed by local and foreign rehabilitation professionals. Outside Port-au-Prince, rehabilitation services were non-existent (Bigelow, 2010). These rehabilitation centers were destroyed during the earthquake and were unable to provide services in the recovery period (O'Connell, et al., 2010). The rehabilitation role of humanitarian intervention actors was therefore vital. HI's preliminary report on injury and disability from 15–26th January 2010 reports that HI worked with more than 600 people with earthquake-related injuries, in particular with persons with amputations and to reduce the risk of secondary disabilities. HI responded immediately with post-operative

rehabilitation at more than fourteen hospitals in the most affected areas as well as providing rehabilitation services in the community such as wound care, psychosocial support, physical rehabilitation and the distribution of devices (O'Connell, et al., 2010). Further, it is noted that during their needs assessment, HI found five other hospitals where rehabilitation was offered by foreign allied health professionals, who arrived after the earthquake. One of them was the Toronto Rehabilitation Institute, an academic medical center that sent a team of rehabilitation specialists. They responded one month after the earthquake struck Haiti and worked in an area not directly affected by the earthquake, which was part of an evacuation zone where many people went to seek healthcare. Within the first two weeks, the Toronto rehabilitation team provided up to 300 sessions of direct clinical care and 25 teaching sessions as well as collaborating with Healing Hand for Haiti (HHHI) working in a SCI unit for a total of eight weeks (Landry, et al., 2010).

Another study, jointly conducted by HI and the Humanitarian and Conflict Response Institute (HCRI) showed that a peak in amputations were on the fifth day post-earthquake, suggesting that most of the amputations were performed by foreign surgeons, instead of local staff as the first medical professionals started to arrive 48 hours after the earthquake (Redmond, et al., 2012). It also shows that rehabilitation for earthquake-related amputations was high in the first few months but later increased for people with amputations unrelated to the earthquake. Redmond, et al. (2012) note that a majority of people who accessed the rehabilitation services had non-earthquake related amputations. This cohort of previous subserviced PWDs need to be considered into disaster planning and services should therefore have a PHC approach (Redmond, et al., 2012). Further, Redmond, et al. (2012) point out that statistics were collected across organizations who provided surgery but unfortunately not for rehabilitation providers relying only on the data that have been collected by HI and CBM and not from the

other organizations such as academic medical centers, which also provided rehabilitation. For that reason, it is difficult to estimate how many people with injuries and disabilities, related and unrelated to the earthquake received rehabilitation input.

A qualitative study investigated the sustainability of the rehabilitation efforts in postearthquake Haiti and concluded that the service lacked the foundation for development
because of the high turnover of volunteers, volunteer workers having no local language skills
and neither the medical expertise. Although, prosthetic needs received the most attention,
NGOs' lack of knowledge of physical rehabilitation and devices resulted in equipment being
distributed without carrying out a needs assessment (Arie, 2012). Finally, the study questions
the focus of emergency service by the international agencies, when there is such an enormous
need for long-term rehabilitation in a population with more than 300,000 new PWDs that does
not have an established rehabilitation infrastructure (Arie, 2012). On that account, when many
more lives are saved that would otherwise not be saved with international help, providing an
infrastructure for ongoing care and rehabilitation becomes necessary. This would imply a
contribution from EMA towards PHC and development, and would help to make the response
more sustainable.

Pakistan was able to establish a national rehabilitation system based on CBR after the earthquake in 2005, whereas the rehabilitation services set up in Haiti seems not sustainable in the long term. A difference between Pakistan and Haiti may be the political and economic stability of the country. CBR in Pakistan received support by the government, as well as it had PT education in place and a greater ability to work with international organizations. Haiti lacked a national structure for rehabilitation services including PT education. Therefore, it could be argued that this places greater responsibility on the international community to

provide further assistance to the 1.1 Million PWDs post-earthquake. This indicates that an emergency response alone is not enough in LICs because of a lack of infrastructure to meet the needs of a whole population affected by a disaster. It should also include building capacity from the early stages of an emergency such as training local staff (Tataryn and Blanchet, 2012).

The recent developments in "disaster medicine" and "disaster rehabilitation" (Rathore, et al., 2012) show that rehabilitation should be part of disaster planning but it should also provide the roots for a sustainable capacity. This crosses the line between emergency response and development as well as EMA and PHC. Indeed, a short-term international response to provide assistance during the emergency phase does not bring development and future emergency responses will be better tackled if structures are in place that can deal with the response of a disaster. As Europe and the U.S. developed their rehabilitation expertise from the experiences of WWII, post-earthquake Haiti will hopefully follow and develop its rehabilitation provisions for patients with SCIs, as well as raising awareness towards social inclusion for PWDs. HI notes that they will hand over their work and infrastructure for rehabilitation to the local partner organization to continue the work (Arie, 2012). It remains to be seen how successful this will be.

The response after the Great East Japan Earthquake, which hit Japan in March 2011, had less traumatic injuries such as SCI, TBI and amputations, but the needs of the elderly population and PWDs needed to be address. The low incidence of traumatic injuries came as a surprise, as traumatic injuries have had high incidence rates during previous earthquakes, including the Awaji Great Earthquake in 1995 (Liu, et al., 2012). Multidisciplinary rehabilitation teams, including physiatrists, PTs, OTs and nurses were sent to shelters for the earthquake victims to

provide services to the elderly population and PWDs and their families. Among elderly persons, immobilization syndrome affected 30% and therefore a management strategy to avoid new cases of immobilization syndrome was an imminent need (Liu, et al., 2012). For PWDs, rehabilitation needs that were required to be addressed included: prevention of the deterioration of ADLs realized through group and individual rehabilitation sessions, help with transfer to temporary housing, assistance with transfer to new rehabilitation services and adaptations in new shelters (Liu, et al., 2012). The study shows that immobilization syndrome resulted in the highest need for rehabilitation, which reflects the high number of elderly living in Japan. Despite the involvement of rehabilitation specialists such as PTs and OTs and SLTs in the Great East Japan earthquake, they are not included in the provision of health care during disaster by the Japanese Ministry of Health. Instead, NGOs dispatched the rehabilitation specialists and also had to cover the costs for the rehabilitation services. However professions such as dental hygienists and laboratory technicians are listed among the health professionals providing care during a disaster in Japan. The paper, however, argues for the mainstream inclusion of PTs and OTs in disaster responses in Japan (Liu, et al., 2012).

3.2.3 Physiotherapy in violent conflict settings

Little is written on the experiences of PT efforts for civilians in conflict and post-conflict settings. In Bosnia in 1999, for example the literature shows that the U.S. military employed PTs since the peacekeeping mission. The service provided PT for combatants with non-traumatic musculoskeletal injuries and inpatients as part of post-operative care (Teyhen, 1999). Teyhen (1999) recommended more involvement of PTs in complex humanitarian emergencies to provide PT for civilians as there was a shortage of PTs considering the number of patients, including civilians with war-related injuries such as amputations and burn

wounds. Another study from Bosnia and Herzegovina reports that a CBR strategy was used to deal with the needs of PWDs during the war and was continued after the conflict and integrated into the PHC system. During the war it was estimated that between 40,000 and 70,000 people needed physical rehabilitation due to war-related injuries. It is reported that multidisciplinary therapy centers were established in shelters, empty shops and other vacant buildings in the community due to the lack of basic treatment (Peat and Jalovcic, 2009). Post-conflict, CBR was chosen by the government for the rehabilitation of war victims, as IBR was unavailable for injured persons. When IBR service is unavailable for PWDs, CBR for physical rehabilitation is an effective way to address the needs and help to protect the right to health for PWDs (Peat and Jalovcic, 2009).

In Afghanistan, which has been in chronic conflict for more than three decades, PT for PWDs outside the private health care provision is non-existent. A qualitative study among Canadian PTs working in a military base in Afghanistan shows a high demand for PT in post-operative care for combatants and civilians. Civilians, included children, with war-related wounds and other chronic health problems received PT if capacity was available (Rowe and Carpenter, 2011). Another qualitative study in 2012 examined the physical rehabilitation provision for people with SCIs in Afghanistan (Michael and Roth, 2012). (In Afghanistan, SCI is mainly a consequence of violence although, whether caused by foreign military or tribal dispute is unknown, and spinal tuberculosis). The study suggests that for rehabilitation to be effective for SCI patients, rehabilitation must start during acute hospital care and be followed up in CBR programs. The study also shows that stigmatization of PWDs in Afghanistan is one of the main obstacles that need to be overcome in order for community integration to be successful (Michael and Roth, 2012). Ideally, post-conflict, government-run health organizations should continue the work of international NGOs but to date, physical

rehabilitation is predominantly provided by foreign NGOs such as the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), HI and by foreign military personnel (Michael and Roth, 2012; Rowe and Carpenter, 2011).

3.3 Physiotherapy and its impact on the quality of life

QOL is a multidimensional concept, which is a subjective perception of different aspects in life and includes domains such as health, job, relationships, housing and cultural values (CDC, 2011). Subjective wellbeing has been used when assessing outcomes of medical rehabilitation for PWDs (Fuhrer, 2000; Anneken, et al., 2010). Health related quality of life (HRQOL), which focuses on physical and mental health may affect other aspects of the QOL such as social and vice versa (CDC, 2011). A study on the impact of physical exercises on the QOL for people with SCIs in a non-disaster setting showed that physical exercises are the main contributor to HRQOL in both physical and psychological aspects. Those who were active in sports had a higher employment rate than those who were not physically active (Anneken, et al., 2010). A higher employment rate has a positive impact on the individual and the community.

The QOL for persons with permanently disabling injuries was assessed after the Sichuan earthquake in quasi-experimental studies (Zhang, et al., 2013; Zhang, et al., 2012). In the effectiveness study (Zhang, et al., 2013), people with disabling injuries including SCIs, TBIs, amputations, fractures and other injuries, were randomly selected into three groups: the first, an intervention group with IBR followed by CBR, the second group received IBR followed by CBR one year after the event and the third group acted as the control group, receiving no treatment. The outcome was measured with the Barthel Index (BI) to measures functionality

in ADLs and mobility. The study shows that those who received IBR followed by CBR, which included physiatrists, PTs, OTs, a rehabilitation nurse and psychological support, improved long-term physical functioning compared to those who only received rehabilitation one year after the event and the effects were even stronger when compared with the control group (Zhang, et al., 2013). However, selection bias could have influenced the results since there were more persons with TBI injuries in the control group and more SCI patients in the first intervention group and the recovery of these two types of injury have different paths. With TBI, it is highly dependent on the severity of the injury. However, the authors did not discuss these aspects of bias. Further, it is unclear at which time after the occurrence of the Sichuan earthquake the first group started with the rehabilitation. Additionally, it is questionable if it is ethical to have a control group. The study was conducted in three different counties and the authors justified the decision by using a county that had no rehabilitation facilities in place due to poor resources and political instability as the control group and so, the study suffers from selection bias again.

Another study by the same research group looked at the impact of physical rehabilitation on the QOL for people with fractures after the Sichuan earthquake. Three groups were analyzed: early rehabilitation intervention, late rehabilitation intervention and a control group. ADLs were measured with the BI, HRQOL was evaluated with the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form-36 (SF-36) and overall life satisfaction was measured with the Life Satisfaction Questionnaire (LiSat-9) (Zhang, et al., 2012). The study shows that those who received early rehabilitation input scored higher on the SF-36 than the control group and both intervention groups had higher ADL outcomes and life satisfaction than the control group (Zhang, et al., 2012). The study recommends that physical rehabilitation should start immediately after the stabilization of the trauma and be continued with CBR as it reduces fracture complications

and improves functional outcomes, which improves physical independence and therefore, potentially has a positive impact on QOL. A third study conducted post-Sichuan earthquake, examined the rehabilitation outcomes for people with SCI found that ambulation, ADLs and wheelchair mobility had improved after rehabilitation. Early onset of rehabilitation (less than three months post-earthquake) had a more positive effect on outcomes such as managing pressure sores and deep vein thrombosis (DVT) than starting rehabilitation later than three months post-event (Li, et al., 2012). A prospective cohort study on the QOL for people with SCI post-earthquake in Sichuan found that IBR had a positive impact on ADLs and physical independence and that the QOL improved after persons returned to the community (Hu, et al., 2012).

The positive impact of medical rehabilitation on the QOL in earthquake victims with permanent disabling injuries shows that rehabilitation professionals should be part of the emergency response team to achieve better outcomes in wound healing and physical independence. A problem, however is, the lack of an international rehabilitation standard. The only rehabilitation specific guidelines by the WHO to date are on wheelchair service and Prosthetic and Orthotics (P&O) training (Tataryn and Blanchet, 2012). International rehabilitation guidelines for PTs and OTs do not exist, which could be guidance for rehabilitation specialists working in humanitarian response operations. Therefore, the creation of rehabilitation guidelines by the WHO might be a next step in more involvement of physical rehabilitation in emergency medical responses.

4. Inclusive emergency responses

The legal framework of the CRPD has created the basis for implementing measures to include PWDs in all areas of life and social construct, as the WRD shows. This chapter discusses the implementation of CRPD in disaster response and disaster planning. I will briefly discuss the rights-based approach and common theories, that is, utilitarianism, which is used to guide the allocation of scarce resources, as is mostly the case in times of conflict and disaster. I will show that a rights-based approach clashes with utilitarian theories of distribution, as those theories of distribution do not take into account individual rights.

Including PWDs into disaster planning already received attention in 1981, the International Year of Disabled Persons (IYDP) when the UN Disaster Relief Coordinator (UNDRC) started their investigation into PWDs in disaster settings (Health Library for Disasters, 2013). Parr (1987) started to ask what happens to PWDs in a disaster and investigated that little research and discussion had been conducted in that field. The study highlights that PWDs are dependent on others, in particular in disaster situations and therefore, an investigation was required into how PWDs could be best assisted in a disaster response (Parr, 1987). The *Bonn Declaration* in 2007 discussed an inclusive approach for PWDs in emergency responses, which was a milestone in the way forward to protect the human rights of PWDs. The declaration recommended that PWDs should be included in all spheres of disaster response, that is, disaster preparedness and planning, acute emergency response and immediate rehabilitation, and post-disaster development, rehabilitation and reconstruction (Bonn Declaration, 2007).

A testimony of a relative of a quadriplegic woman who drowned in her own flat during Hurricane Katrina in 2005 shows that even in HICs, where infrastructure is adapted to the needs of PWDs, they are not always sufficiently included. She reported that her sister in law, despite being in contact for two days with the local organization that organizes transportation for PWDs, which would have been possible, the organization never send a transport to evacuate her. Without the help of others she could not move herself outside her flat and despite disaster measures that included PWDs in the U.S., she was left on her own where she could not flee the water that came into the house (Burns, et al., 2012). This happened in a HIC where very little disaster-related injury was reported.

In LMICs, there are many more such stories, where PWDs, including older people are left behind (Reinhardt, et al., 2011; Atlas Alliance no date). Kett (2013) also states that disabled children are in increased danger to be left at home in the country of origin in the case where the family needs to flee quickly to another country. The host country's discriminating policies, for example, not granting asylum for PWDs can be another reason for the vulnerability of PWDs. Past situations of disaster management show that PWDs are the most affected by disaster and as studies from Japan and Taiwan concluded, the death rate among people with physical and mental health problems nearly doubled after a disaster (Kett, 2005; Reinhardt, et al., 2011; Mori, et al., 2007). It is highlighted that PWDs are the most vulnerable during conflict and at the same time the most neglected (WDR, 2011; Reilly, 2010). Several reports addressed the issue of including PWDs and older people in disaster preparedness. Practical guidance is given by the WHO department of violence and injury prevention (2005), which states that in acute emergency response PWDs need to be identified and their healthcare needs, for example, medication, have to be addressed in order to decrease the risk of further exacerbation of their condition. The WHO (2011) claims that poor disaster management and policies are responsible for the exclusion of PWDs in disaster responses.

Including PWDs in disaster responses is grounded in a rights-based approach and has the potential to clash with utilitarianism, the dominating theory of distribution of resources in disaster responses. Utilitarian theories, which are derived from Jeremy Bentham and John Stuart Mill, are often discussed as the happiness principle, which promotes the distribution of resources, guided by the benefit for the majority of the people in need as has been already discussed in chapter two. The outcome of the intervention should bring a maximizing benefit to society and minimize harm (Sztajnkrycer, et al., 2006). Triage in disaster settings use the utilitarian principle to decide who receives treatment as a priority (Waeckerle, et al., 1994). However, as Sztajnkrycer, et al. (2006) note, the origins of prioritization in triage of patients were based on the egalitarian principle, which provided health care first to those who were in most need for it. Further, the authors also question whether resources are scarce in a disaster or whether it is the critical time window that prevents helpers to save more lives. If a rightsbased approach should be achieved in all spheres of disaster response, then PWDs must be viewed as equally valuable for society and should not be singled out when it comes to disaster response. The egalitarian approach also requires the distribution of scarce resources equally to all members of society. The rights-based approach protects individual rights and places all individuals, regardless of mental and physical ability on the same scale. With the adoption of the CRPD, the egalitarian concept should be applied rather than the utilitarian theory. On the basis of the CRPD, selecting people for triage in a disaster response on the basis of a ranking of physical and mental ability would be unethical (Sztajnkrycer, et al., 2006).

Using an inclusive humanitarian response requires society to provide the necessary assistance for PWDs so that they have an equal chance as able-bodied persons to receive help in all spheres of a humanitarian response. The inclusive humanitarian approach incorporates the concept of equal dignity for all persons. According to Gewirth (1996), the concept of dignity

is the basis for universal human rights and so should be encompassed in all spheres of human interaction. The Aristotelian doctrine sees human beings as social animals, where people can develop their humanity only in interactions with others within a social order. On that account, people are aware of other people's needs and interests, which are the objects of rights (Gewirth, 1996). Therefore, the community is responsible for protecting those individual interests, including the needs of PWDs. In a community that is struck by conflict, the rights and interests of individuals are often violated. However, according to Article 32 of the CRPD and UN resolution 688, the international community has the right to humanitarian intervention and therefore, has the responsibility to intervene and to protect those fundamental rights according to human rights laws that are based on dignity (Fonrouge and Gunn, 2008). For that reason PWDs need to be included in a humanitarian response and rehabilitative measures should be included into the PHC package provided in the refugee shelter (Mirza, 2011).

However, this is not necessarily understood everywhere. Sahlool, et al. (2012, p. 6) state in a evaluation study of health care services at a refugee camp for Syrians in Turkey that "The abuse of the health system by the refugees with chronic problems, disabilities or congenital abnormalities that were present and unsolved for long time in their original locations put extra burden on the health care sector". In their view the needs of PWDs have a negative effect on the effectiveness of the health care provision for refugees. However, unmet needs should not be interpreted as abuse of services, as these needs ideally need to be addressed. As mentioned earlier, Syria, as a MIC has a considerable burden of NCDs and since this burden is predicted to rise in the future, care for NCDs should be incorporated in disaster and conflict situations. MSF reports from Syria that in addition to war-related injuries they also treat people with diabetes, high blood pressure and complications during pregnancy since patients

with these conditions are among those who need health care. These conditions can become life threatening due to the lack of medication and the exacerbation of the condition by the conflict (MSF, 2013). Pregnant women's need for specialized health care has been recognized universally and so should be for PWDs and the elderly.

The legal framework is a first important step to make people aware that we all have the same rights, which are fundamentally based on dignity. In Pakistan, positive developments on a governmental level included the introduction of CBR for PWDs nation wide (Mallick, et al., 2010). The experiences in Haiti mainstreamed the need to include PWDs in disaster preparedness and brought the issues of PWDs closer to the agenda of the government, which is the first step to changes in policies. (UN Enable, 2013; Wolbring, 2011). In Japan, NGOs collaborated to consider the rehabilitation needs of elderly and PWDs (Liu, et al., 2012). However, misperceptions among healthcare staff working in humanitarian responses were noted such as the perception that PWDs require specialized care, that PWDs cannot contribute to work, education and societal activities and that PWDs are unable to help others (Kett and Van Ommeren, 2009; Mirza, 2011). In the case of the conflict in Syria, it seems that attitudes towards persons with chronic conditions and disabilities among the local research groups and healthcare providers have not changed yet. Sahlool, et al. (2012), write about abuse of the health care service by this vulnerable group, which indicates that they see health provision in a long-term conflict, as it seems to happen in Syria, as a purely emergency response despite the efforts by the CRPD and the WRD to secure health care and rehabilitation for PWDs, even in violent conflict situations. In long-term violent conflicts such as in Syria, emergency medicine needs to incorporate PHC services, as it is already seen with MSF but the research community needs to become aware of that too. Inclusive disaster preparedness and planning is one step to put the CRPD into practice.

Limitations

The study is limited by the small amount of peer-reviewed and grey literature available online which describe PT in conflict and post-disaster settings. The number of peer-reviewed articles is particularly small. It might be the case that more rehabilitation programs exist in such settings but that no article or report has been written. In the case of post-disaster response in Haiti, the main sources of information about physical rehabilitation services are editorials and reports on the experiences of health professionals. Only two peer-reviewed articles were found that investigated the surgical input and the rehabilitation response after the earthquake in Haiti. However, those studies did not investigate the outcomes of rehabilitation for earthquake victims. Few studies on rehabilitation outcomes for earthquake victims were only available from China, after the Sichuan earthquake. The findings from Sichuan are, however, likely to be generalizable to other emergency settings because of the similarity of injury pattern after disasters and violent conflicts.

A limitation of the study might be the methodology. The study is not a systematic review and therefore, it is possible that relevant papers and reports were missed. The paper is restricted by the use of peer-reviewed articles written in English, German and French, as there may be more relevant literature available on the Great Eastern Japan earthquake and the Sichuan earthquake in Japanese and Mandarin. Accessing databases through the UCL and UiB libraries only, is another limitation of this study. The lack of research in the field of emergency responses has to do with the unpredictability of the events. However, it is suggested that some natural disasters can be predicted because of their connection to climate change (Holmes, 2009). The same may be the case for violent conflicts such as the recent developments with the Arab Spring. Similar patterns in political governance led to a number of internal conflicts in the Arab world and civil strife, such as in Syria that has become long-

term, has the potential to spread to other Arabic nations too. Therefore, research might not be so limited by unpredictability of events if a pattern of conflict or disaster is already observed. For that reason, in the future more research in disaster settings might be available and suggest ways to better respond to emergencies.

Conclusion

In this study I have examined the epidemiology of injury and disability after disaster and violent conflict and the findings indicate that there are rehabilitation needs, which can be met by involving PT in emergency responses. The study found that injury patterns in conflict and disaster are similar, with fractures, amputations, TBI and SCI as the most common and an increase in NCDs in LMICs. The findings of this narrative review show, as in the case of military research, that physical rehabilitation including physiotherapy needs to be included into EMA in post-disaster and violent conflict settings and brought to the attention of foreign donors. Moreover, EMA and PHC do interact in real-life situations such as during conflict and post-disaster and therefore, EMA has the potential to include immediate physical rehabilitation to meet the needs of persons with disaster-related injuries but also of persons with chronic conditions unrelated to the disaster. Therefore, EMA cannot be totally distinguished from PHC, as EMA will have to deal with persons with chronic conditions, unrelated to whether it is inflicted by disaster or violent conflict. Just as there will always be women who need assistance giving birth in disaster settings, there are people with chronic health needs who require medical assistance or rehabilitative input.

The perceived paradigm shift from EMA to long-term recovery, which includes PHC and development, was noticed after the emergency response in Haiti (Knowlton, et al., 2011). The high morbidity rate after the earthquake in Haiti indicated a greater need for physical rehabilitation, which was understood by the international community (Tataryn and Blanchet, 2012; Landry, 2010). Providing PT to combatants after traumatic injuries has been already done in the military of HICs, to decrease the level of permanent disability and thereby improving their QOL (Teyhen, 1999; Rowe and Carpenter, 2010; Sayer, et al., 2009). The positive impact of PT on the QOL of persons with traumatic injuries has also been

investigated after the Sichuan earthquake. The literature on PT in military operations suggests further that physical rehabilitation should start immediately post-operatively or after conservative treatment of injury for better health outcomes (Sayer, et al., 2009).

The CRPD proposed adequate health care for PWDs in a disaster and conflict response, making it a legal claim for PWDs to be included in the health care response and subsequently in disaster planning (UN enable, 2013; WRD, 2011; CRPD, 2006). For that reason, priority-setting theories need to be more egalitarian in order to meet the human rights of PWDs. The CRPD and the response in Haiti might have been turning points in disaster response in LMICs, which promoted the inclusion of PWDs and therefore physical rehabilitation and may be part of disaster planning and preparedness in the future. As it has been assessed in this study, rehabilitation has a place in the immediate response (Harrison, 2007; Knowlton, et al., 2011; Zhang, et al., 2013), which may be also the start for development. For instance, promoting competence building among local health professionals should always be part of international response (Tataryn and Blanchet, 2012). Including rehabilitation and other kinds of health care provision within a framework of development would make future disaster responses in the same region less dependent on the international community and health care provision can be included in disaster planning and management.

Recommendations

- The creation of international physical rehabilitation guidelines for PWDs by the WHO
 would help to further identify rehabilitation needs and provide a scope of practice for
 PTs working in LMICs and other global settings.
- 2. PT services need to improve in general globally but in particular, to deal with the increased burden of NCDs in LMICs. PTs can contribute to the care of that population group, as it is already happening in HICs. This would not leave persons with NCDs as a burden to the EMA system but include them through the involvement of PT in disaster.
- 3. More research needs to be conducted in the area of PT for populations affected by disaster and conflict in order to raise awareness about the importance of physical rehabilitation for PWDs and bring it to the attention of national and international policy makers and leaders of humanitarian aid organizations so that PWD are included, as the CRPD requires.
- 4. PT education has to implement global health topics in the curriculum of PT students in HICs (Alappat, et al., 2007) and make PTs aware of their role in development and humanitarian response environments. Not the least, PT (and other rehabilitation) education programs should be strengthened or build in LMICs in order to make physical rehabilitation services sustainable. For instance, competence building programs between PT departments and academic institutions from different parts of the world could be created to promote sustainable development (John, et al., 2012).
- 5. CBR needs to be expanded into all humanitarian response, which could bridge the gap between EMA and development. Therefore, the promotion of CBR is an important measure to include PWDs and physical rehabilitation in all three phases of a disaster response.

Bibliography

Alappat, C., Siu, G., Penfold, A., McGovern, B., McFarland, J., Raman, S. and Landry, M., 2007. Role of Canadian Physical Therapists in Global Health Initiatives: SWOT Analysis. *Physiotherapy Canada*. [e-journal] 59 (4), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Anneken, V., Hanssen-Doose, A., Hirschfeld, S., Scheuer, T. and Thietje, R., 2010. Influence of physical exercise on quality of life in individuals with spinal cord injury. *International Spinal Cord Society*. [e-journal] 48, pp. 393 – 399, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Arie. S., 2012. Work of 125 aid agencies failed to create lasting rehabilitation services in Haiti, study shows. *British Medical Journal*. [e-journal] 344, pp. 1-2, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Atlas Alliance, no date. *Fact Sheet: Disability in Conflicts and Emergencies*. [online] Atlas Alliance. Available at: http://www.atlas-alliansen.no/Faktaark-html-versjon/Disability-in-Conflicts-and-Emergencies [Accessed 8 May 2013].

Babcock, C., Theodosis, C., Bills, C., Kim, J., Kinet, M., Turner, M., Millis, M., Olopade, O. & Olopade, C., 2012. The Academic Health Centre in Complex Humanitarian Emergencies: Lessons Learned From the 2010 Haiti Earthquake. *Academic Medicine*, [e-journal] 87 (11), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub [Accessed 6 May 2013].

Bigelow, J. K., 2010. Establishing a training programme for rehabilitation aides in Haiti: Successes, challenges, and dilemmas. *Disability and Rehabilitation*. [online] 32 (8), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Burkholder, B. T. and Toole, M. J., 1995. Evolution of complex Disasters. *The Lancet*. [online] 346 pp. 1012 – 1015, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Burns, S. A., O'Connell, C. & Rathore, F. A., 2012. Meeting the challenges of Spinal Cord Injury Care following sudden onset disaster – lessons learned. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*. [e-journal] 44, pp. 414 – 420, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 14 May 2013].

Chan, E. Y. Y. and Kim, J., 2011. Chronic health needs immediately after natural disaster in middle-income countries: the case of the 2008 Sichuan, China earthquake. *European Journal of Emergency Medicine*. [online] 18, pp. 111-114, Available through University College London Library Website: http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library/> [Accessed 15May 2013].

Chatterjee, P., 2002. One year after the Gunjarat earthquake. *The Lancet*. [e-journal] 359, p. 327, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Chiou-Tan, F. Y., Bloodworth, D. M., Kass, J. S., Li, X., Gavagan, T. F., Mattox, K. and Rintala, D. H., 2007. Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Conditions in the Astrodome Clinic After Hurricane Katrina. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*. [e-journal] 86 (9), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 14 May 2013].

Cukier, W., 2008. Conventional Weapons. In B. S. Levy and V. W. Sidel, eds. 2008. *War and Public Health*. 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Ch. 2.

Dara, S. I., Ashton, R. W., Farmer, C. J. and Carlton, P. K. Jr., 2005. Worldwide disaster medical response: An historical perspective. *Critical Care Medicine*. [online] 33 (1), Available through: University College London Library Website http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library [Accessed 15 May 2013].

Disasters Emergency Committee, 2013. *Haiti Earthquake Facts and Figures*. [online] Available at: http://www.dec.org.uk/haiti-earthquake-facts-and-figures [Accessed 18 July 2013].

Doocy, S., Jacquet, G., Cherewick, M. and Kirsch, T., 2013. The Injury burden of the 2010 Haiti earthquake: a stratified cluster survey. *Injury*. [online] Article in Press, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub [Accessed 7 May 2013].

Durham, J. and Hoy, D., 2013. Burden of Injury From Explosive Remnants of Conflict in Lao PDR and Cambodia. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health*. [e-journal] 25 (124), Available through: University College London Library Website http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library/ [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Etienne, M., Powell, C. and Faux, B., 2010. Disaster relief in Haiti: a perspective from the neurologists on the USNS COMFORT. *The Lancet*. [e-journal] 9 pp. 461 – 463, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub [Accessed 14 May 2013].

Fischer, H., 2013. U.S. Military Casualty Statistics: Operation New Dawn, Operation Iraqi Freedom, and Operation Enduring Freedom. [online] Congressional Research Service. Available at: http://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/natsec/RS22452.pdf [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Fonrouge, J. M. and Gunn, S. W. A., 2008. The humanitarian postulate in disaster management. In: S. W. A. Gunn and M. Masellis, eds. 2008. *Concepts and Practice of Humanitarian Medicine*. New York: Springer. Ch. 23.

Fuhrer, M. J., 2000. Subjectifying quality of life as a medical rehabilitation outcome. *Disability and Rehabilitation*. [e-journal] 11, pp. 481 – 488, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Garfield, R., 2008. The Epidemiology of War. In B. S. Levy and V. W. Sidel, eds. 2008. *War and Public Health*. 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Gewirth, A., 1996. The community of rights. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Greenwood, J. G., 1985. Disability Dilemmas and Rehabilitation Tensions: A Twentieth Century Inheritance. *Social Science and Medicine*. [e-journal] 20 (12), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 6 May 2013].

Groce, N. E. and Trani, J. F., 2009. Millennium Development Goals and people with disabilities. *The Lancet*. [e-journal] 374, pp. 1800 – 1801, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 7 May 2013].

Guha-Sapir, D., Vos, F., Below, R. and Ponserre, S., 2012. *Annual Disaster Statistic Review 2011: The numbers and trends*. [pdf] WHO: Center for Research on the Epidemiology of Disaster. Available at: http://projectdisaster.com/media/DisasterReview-2011-WHO.pdf [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Harrison, R. M., 2007. Preliminary Investigation into the Role of Physiotherapists in Disaster Response. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, [e-journal] 22 (5), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 6 May 2013].

Health Library for Disasters, no date. *Disasters and the Disabled*. [online] Available at: http://helid.digicollection.org/en/d/Jdi016e/8.html#Jdi016e.8 [Accessed 11 July 2013].

Holmes, Sir J., 2009. Health and Emergency Response: Emerging Humanitarian Challenges. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*. [e-journal] 24 (2), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Hu, X., Zhang, X., Gosney, J. E., Reinhardt, J. D., Chen, S., Jin, H. and Li, J., 2012. Analysis of Functional Status, Quality of Life and Community Integration in Earthquake Survivors With Spinal Cord Injuries at Hospital Discharge and One-Year-Follow Up in the Community. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*. [e-journal] 44, pp. 200 – 205, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 14 May 2013].

- Humphreys, K. and Carpenter, C., 2010. Experiences of the voluntary physiotherapist role in developing nations. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*. [e-journal] 17 (3), Available through: University of Bergen Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Iezzoni, L. I. & Ronan, L. J., 2010. Disability Legacy of the Haitian Earthquake. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. [e-journal] 152, pp. 812 814, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 14 May 2013].
- John, E. B., Pfalzer, L. A., Fry, D., Glickman, L., Masaaki, S., Sabus, C., Okafor, U. A. C. and Al-Jarrah, M. D., 2012. Establishing and Upgrading Physical Therapist Education in Developing Countries: Four Case Examples of Service by Japan and United States Physical Therapy Programs to Nigeria, Suriname, Mongolia, and Jordan. *Journal of Physical Therapy Education*. [e-journal] 26 (1), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Kerridge, B. T., Khan, M. R. and Sapkota, A., 2012. Terrorism, civil war, one-sided violence and global burden of disease. *Medicine, Conflict and Survival*. [e-journal] 28 (3), Available through: University College London Library Website http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library/ [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Kett, M., 2013. *Risk, resilience and inclusive humanitarian action*. [online] UNICEF: The state of the world's children 2013: children with disabilities. Available at: http://www.unicef.org/sowc2013/files/SWCR2013 ENG Lo res 24 Apr 2013.pdf [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Kett, M. and Van Ommeren, M., 2009. Disability, conflict and emergencies. *The Lancet.* [e-journal] 374, pp. 1801-1802, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 18 March 2013].
- Knowlton, L. M., Gosney, J.E., Chanckungal, S., Altschuler, E., Black, L., Burckle Jr. F. M., Casey, K., Crandell, D., Demey, D., Di Giacomo, L., Dohlman, L., Goldstein, J., Gosselin, R., Ikeda, K., Le Roy, A., Linden, A., Mullaly, C. M., Nickerson, J., O'Connell, C., Redmond, A. D., Richards, A., Rufsvold, R., Santos, A. LR., Skelton, T. & McQueen, K., 2011. Consensus Statements Regarding The Multidisciplinary Care of Limb Amputation Patients in Disasters or Humanitarian Emergencies: Report of the 2011 Humanitarian Action Summit Surgical Working Group on Amputations following Disaster or Conflict. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*. [e-journal] 26 (6), Available through: University College London Library Website http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library/ [Accessed 7 May 2013].
- Landry, M. D., 2010. Physical Therapists in Post-Earthquake Haiti: Seeking a Balance between Humanitarian Service and Research. *Journal of American Physical Therapy Association*. [e-journal] 90 (7), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 18 March 2013].
- Landry, M. D., Singh, C. S., Carnie, L., Stephenson, F., Hill, A. and Hill, C., 2010. Spinal cord injury rehabilitation in post-earthquake Haiti: the critical role for non-governemntal organizations. *Physiotherapy*. [e-journal] 96, pp. 267 268, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 7 May 2013].
- Landry, M., McGlynn, M., Ng, E., Andreoli, A., Devji, T., Bower, C., Goyal, A., Haycock, S., Young, J. A., Leber, D., Guy, K., Vanderwerf, A., Wright, J., Iafolla, S., Horne, I. M. & Burns, A. S., 2010. Humanitarian Response following the earthquake in Haiti: Reflections for unprecedented need for rehabilitation. *World Health and Population*. [e-journal] 12 (1), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Landry, M., O'Connell, C., Tardif, G. & Burns, A. 2010. Post-earthquake Haiti: the critical role for rehabilitation services following a humanitarian crisis. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, [e-journal] 32 (19), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 6 May 2013].
- Landry, M. D., Quigley, A., Nakhle, A. and Nixon, S. A., 2010. Implications of a Gap between Demand and Supply for Rehabilitation in Post-Earthquake Haiti. *Physiotherapy Research International*. [e-journal] 15, pp. 123 125, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 6 May 2013].

- Landry, M., 2007. Poverty, disability and human development: a global challenge for physiotherapy in the 21st century. *Physiotherapy*. [e-journal] 93, pp. 233 234, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 6 May 2013].
- Levy, B. S. and Sidel, V. W., 2008. *War and Public Health*. 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Li, Y., Reinhardt, J. D., Gosney, J. E., Zhang, X., Hu, X., Chen, S., Ding, M. & Li, J., 2012. Evaluation of Functional Outcomes of Physical Rehabilitation and Medical Complications in Spinal Cord Injury Victims of the Sichuan Earthquake. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*. [e-journal] 44, pp. 534 540, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 14 May 2013].
- Li, Y., Pan, F. and Li, Y., 2009. Analysis of rehabilitation needs, measures taken, and their effectiveness for the wounded following the Wenchuan earthquake. *Journal of Evidence-Based Medicine*. [e-journal] 2, pp. 258 264, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 14 May 2013].
- Liu, M., Kohzuki, M., Hamamura, A., Ishikawa, M., Saitho, M., Kurihara, M., Handa, K., Nakamura, H., Fukaura, J., Kimura, R., Ito, T. & Matsuzaka, N., 2012. How Did Rehabilitation Professionals Act When Faced With The Great East Japan Earthquake And Disaster? Descriptive Epidemiology of Disability And An Interim Report Of The Relief Activities Of The Ten Rehabilitation-Related Organizations. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, [e-journal] 44, p. 421-428, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub [Accessed 6 May 2013].
- Lopez, A. D., Mathers, C D., Ezzati, M., Jamison, D. and Murray, C. J. L., 2006. Global and regional burden of disease and risk factors, 2001: systematic analysis of population health data. *The Lancet*. [e-journal] 367, pp. 1747-57, Available through: University College London Library Website http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library/ [Accessed 3 June 2013].
- Mallick, K., Aurakzai, J. K., Bile, K. M. and Ahmed, N., 2010. Large-scale physical disabilities and their management in the aftermath of the 2005 earthquake in Pakistan. *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal*. [e-journal] 16, pp. 98 105, Available through: University College London Library Website http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Masini, B. D., Waterman, S. M., Wenke, J. C., Owens, B., Hsu, J. R. and Fricke, J. R., 2009. Resource Utilization and Disability Outcome Assessment of Combat Casualties From Operation Iraqi Freedom and Operation Enduring Freedom. *Journal of Orthopedic Trauma*. [e-journal] 23 (4), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Medecins Sans Frontieres, 2013. *MSF Charter and Principles*. [online] Available at: http://www.msf.org/msf-charter-and-principles [Accessed 11 June 2013].
- Medecins Sans Frontieres, 2013. *Diabetes, Granatsplitter und Neugeborene*. [online] Available at: http://www.aerzte-ohne-grenzen.at/hilfseinsaetze/artikel/details/diabetes-granatsplitter-und-neugeborene/ [Accessed 26 July 2013].
- Melcer, T., Walker, G. J., Sechriest, V. F.II., Galarneau, M. MS., Konoske, P. and Pyo, J. DO., 2013. Short-Term Physical and Mental Health Outcomes for Combat Amputee and Nonamputee Extremity Injury Patients. *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma*. [e-journal] 27 (2), Available through: University College London Library Website http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library/ [Accessed 4 June 2013].
- Michael, M. and Roth, K., 2012. Against all odds: a qualitative study of rehabilitation of persons with spinal cord injury in Afghanistan. *Spinal Cord*. [e-journal] 50, pp. 864 868, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website <<u>www.ub.uib.no</u>> [Accessed 8 May 2013].
- Miller, A. C. and Arquilla, B., 2008. Chronic Diseases and Natural Hazards: Impact of Disaster on Diabetic, Renal, and Cardiac Patients. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*. [e-journal] 23 (2), Available through University of Bergen Library Website: http://www.uib.no/ub [Accessed 18 May 2013].
- Millin, M. G., Jenkins, J. L. and Kirsch, T., 2006. A Comparative Analysis of Two External Health Care Disaster Responses Following Hurricane Katrina. *Prehospital and Emergency Care*. [e-journal] 10, pp. 451

- 456, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website <<u>http://www.ub.uib.no</u>> [Accessed 14 May 2013].
- Mirza, M., 2011. Unmet needs and diminished opportunities: disability, displacement and humanitarian healthcare. [pdf] The UN Refugee Agency: Policy development and evaluation service. Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/4e0dbdb29.pdf> [Accessed 18 March 2013].
- Mori, K., Ugai, K., Nonami, Y., Kirimura, T., Kondo, C., Nakamura, T., Motoki, E. and Kaji, H., 2007. Health Needs of Patients With Chronic Disease Who Lived Through the Great Hanshin Earthquake. *Disaster Management and Response.* [e-journal] 5 (1), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub [Accessed 18 May 2013].
- Nasir, K., Hyder, A. A. and Shahbaz, C. M., 2004. Injuries Among Afghan Refugees: Review of Evidence. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*. [e-journal] 19 (2), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Nixon, S. A., Cleaver, S., Stevens, M., Hard, J. and Landry, M. D., 2010. The Role of Physical Therapists in Natural Disasters: What Can We Learn from the Earthquake in Haiti? *Physiotherapy Canada*. [e-journal] 62 (3), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 8 May 2013].
- O'Connell, C. & Ingersoll, A., 2012. Upper Limb Prosthetic Services Post Haiti Earthquake: Experiences and Recommendations of Haiti-based Rehabilitation Program. *Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics*, [e-journal] 24 (2), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub [Accessed 6 May 2013].
- O'Connell, C., Shivij, A. and Calvot, T., 2010. Earthquake of 12th January, 2010 Haiti: Preliminary findings about persons with injuries: Greater Port-au-Prince Area 15 26 January, 2010. [online] Handicap International, Available at: http://haiti.cridlac.org/IS/eng/doc90434/doc90434-contenido.pdf [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Parr, A. R., 1987. Disasters and disabled persons: An examination of the safety needs of a neglected minority. *Disasters*. [e-journal] 11 (2), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 18 March 2013].
- Pasquier, P., de Rudnicki, S., Donat, N., Auroy, Y. and Merat, S., 2011. Epidemiology of war injuries, about two conflicts: Iraq and Afghanistan. *Annales Françaises d'Anesthésie et de Réanimation*. [e-journal] 30, pp. 819 827, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Peat, M. & Jalovcic, D., 2009. Disability and Conflict: Disability Programme in the Balkans: A Case Study. *Journal for Disability and International Development*. [e-journal] 1, pp. 23 – 30, Available at: http://www.zbdw.de/projekt01/media/pdf/2009 1 zbdw.pdf> [Accessed 6 May 2013].
- Peiying, N., Goddard, T., Gribble, N. and Pickard, C., 2012. International Placements Increase the Cultural Sensitivity and Competency of Professional Health Students: A Quantitative and Qualitative Study. *Journal of Physical Therapy Education*. [e-journal] 26 (1), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 5 June 2013].
- Raissi, G. R., 2007. Earthquakes and Rehabilitation Needs: Experience from Bam, Iran. *The Journal of Spinal Cord Medicine*. [e-journal] 30 (4), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 14 May 2013].
- Rathore, F. A., Gosney, J. E., Reinhardt, J. D., Haig, A. J., Li, J. and DeLisa, J. A., 2012. Medical rehabilitation after natural disasters: Why, When and How? *Archives of Physical Medical Rehabilitation*. [e-journal] 93, pp. 1875-1881, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 14 May 2013].
- Rathore, F. A., Farooq, F., Muzammil, S., New, P. W., Epi, C., Ahmad, N. and Haig, A. J., 2008. Spinal Cord Injury Management and Rehabilitation: Highlights and Shortcomings from the 2005 Earthquake in

Pakistan. *Archives of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*. [e-journal] 89 (3), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 14 May 2013].

Rauch, A., Baumberger, M., Moise, F. G., von Elm, E. and Reinhardt, J. D., 2011. Rehabilitation Needs Assessment in Persons with Spinal Cord Injury following the 2010 Earthquake in Haiti: a Pilot Study using an ICF-Based Tool. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*. [e-journal] 43, pp. 969 – 975, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 7 May 2013].

Redmond, A. D., Mardel, S., Taithe, B., Colvot, T., Gosney, J., Duttine, A. and Girois, S., 2011. A Qualitative and Quantitative Study of the Surgical and Rehabilitation Response to the Earthquake in Haiti, January 2010. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, [e-journal] 26 (6), Available through: University of Bergen University Website http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 6 May 2013].

Redwood-Campbell, L. and Abrahams, J., 2011. Primary Health care and Disasters – The Current State of the Literature: What We Know, Gaps and Next Steps. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*. [e-journal] 26 (3), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub [Accessed 18 May 2013].

Redwood-Campbell, L. J. and Riddez, L., 2006. Post-Tsunami Medical Care: Health Problems Encountered in the International Committee of the Red Cross Hospital in Banda Aceh, Indonesia. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*. [e-journal] 21 (1), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 18 May 2013].

Reilly, R., 2010. *Disabilities among refugees and conflict-affected populations*. [pdf] University of Oxford Refugee Studies Centre: Forced Migration review: Disability and Displacement. Available at: http://www.fmreview.org/en/disability/FMR35.pdf [Accessed 6 May 2013].

Reinhardt, J. D., Jianan, L., Gosney, J., Rathore, F. A., Haig, A. J., Marx, M. and DeLisa, J. A., 2011. Disability and health-related rehabilitation in international disaster relief. *Global Health Action*. [e-journal] 4 (7191], Available through: University of Bergen Library Website < http://www.ub.uib.no> [Accessed 6 May 2013].

Rockhold, P. and McDonald, L., 2009. The Hidden Issue in International Development Aid: Health and Disability in Conflict-Affected Settings in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal for Disability and International Development*. [e-journal] 1 pp. 4 – 12, Available through: University College London Library Website http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Rowe, P. and Carpenter, C., 2011. Recent Experiences and Challenges of Military Physiotherapists Deployed to Afghanistan: A Qualitative Study. *Physiotherapy Canada*. [e-journal] 63 (4), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Sahlool, Z., Ghani Sankri-Tarbichi, A. and Kherallah, M., 2012. Evaluation report of health care services at the Syrian refugee camps in Turkey. *Avicenna Journal of Medicine*. [e-journal] 2 (2), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Sayer, N. A., Cifu, D. X., McNamee, S., Chiros, C. E., Sigford, B. J., Scott, S. and Lew, H. L., 2009. Rehabilitation Needs of Combat-Injured Service Members Admitted to the VA Polytrauma Rehabilitation Centers: The Role of PM&R in the Care of Wounded Warriors. *American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. [e-journal] 1 pp. 23 – 28, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Schoenfeld, A. J., Goodman, G. P. and Belmont Jr, P. J., 2012. Characterization of combat-related spinal injuries sustained by a US Army Brigade Combat Team during Operation Iraqi Freedom. *The Spine Journal*. [e-journal] 12 pp. 771 – 776, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Shivji, A., 2010. *Disability in Displacement*. [pdf] University of Oxford Refugee Studies Centre: Forced Migration Review: Disability and Displacement, Available at: http://www.fmreview.org/disability/ [Accessed 18 March 2013].

Sibai, A. M., Shaar, N. S. and El Yassir, S., 2000. Impairments, disabilities and needs assessment among non-fatal war injuries in South Lebanon, Grape of Wrath, 1996. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*. [e-journal] 54, pp. 35 – 39, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 8 May 2013].

SPHERE Project, 2011. *Humanitarian Charter and Minimum Standards in Humanitarian Response*. [online] The Sphere Project. Available at: http://www.sphereproject.org [Accessed 2 July 2013].

Spiegel, P. B., Checchi, F., Colombo, S. and Paik, E., 2010. Health-care needs of people affected by conflict: future trends and changing framework. *The Lancet* [e-journal] 375, pp. 341 – 345, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 18 May 2013].

Sudaryo, M. K., Besral, Endarti, A. E., Rivany, R., Phalkey, R., Marx, M. and Guha-Sapir, D., 2012. Injury, disability and quality of life after the 2009 earthquake in Padang, Indonesia: a prospective cohort study of adult survivors. *Global Health Action*. [e-journal] 5 (11816), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no./ub> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Sullivan, S. R., Taylor, H. O.B., Pauyo, T. and Steer, M. L., 2010. Surgeons' dispatch from Cange, Haiti. *New England Journal of Medicine*. [e-journal] 19 (2), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 18 May 2013].

Sztajnkrycer, M. D., Madsen, B. E. and Báez, A. A., 2006. Unstable ethical plateaus and disaster triage. *Emergency Medicine Clinics of North America*. [e-journal] 24, pp. 749 – 768, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Tataryn, M. and Blanchet, K., 2012. Evaluation of Post-Earthquake Physical Rehabilitation Response in Haiti, 2010 – a systems analysis. International Centre for Evidence in Disability: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine.

Teyhen, D. S., 1999. Physical Therapy in a Peacekeeping Operation: Operation Joint Endeavor/Operation Joint Guard. *Military Medicine*. [e-journal] 164 (8), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 5 June 2013].

United Nations Enable, 2013. *Disability, natural disaster and emergency situations: A need to include persons with disability.* [online] Available at: http://www.un.org/disabilities/default.asp?id=1546 [Accessed 18 March 2013].

United Nations Enable, 2013. *Disability and HIV/AIDS*. [online] Available at: http://www.un.org/disabilities/default.asp?id=1560 [Accessed 5 July 2013].

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, 2013. *Cluster Coordination*. [online] Available at: http://www.unocha.org/what-we-do/coordination-tools/cluster-coordination> [Accessed 24 July 2013].

United Nations Enable, 2013. *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and its Optional Protocol.* [online] power point presentation, Available at: http://www.un.org/disabilities/> [Accessed 19 March 2013].

United Nations, 2013. We Can End Poverty 2015: Millennium Development Goals. [online] Available at: http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/bkgd.shtml [Accessed 18 July 2013].

United Nations Children's Fund, 2013. *The state of the world's children 2013: children with disabilities*. [online] United Nations Children Fund, Available at: http://www.unicef.org/sowc2013/files/SWCR2013_ENG_Lo_res_24_Apr_2013.pdf> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

United Nations, 2006. *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities*. [online] Available at: http://www.un.org/disabilities/default.asp?id=259 [Accessed 20 May 2013].

Van Damme, W., Van Lerberghe, W. and Boelaert, M., 2002. Primary health care vs. emergency medical assistance: a conceptual framework. *Health Policy and Planning*. [e-journal] 17 (1), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 18 May 2013].

Waeckerle, J. F., Lillibridge, S. R., Burkle Jr, F. M. and Noji, E. K. 1994. Disaster Medicine: Challenges For Today. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. [e-journal] 23 (4), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 23 May 2013].

Warden, D., 2006. Military TBI During the Iraq and Afghanistan Wars. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*. [e-journal] 21 (5), Available through: University College London Library Website http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library/ [Accessed 4 June 2013].

Weissbecker, I., 2009. Mental health as a human right in the context of recovery after disaster and conflict. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*. [e-journal] 22 (1), Available through: University College London Library Website http://www.ucl.ac.uk/library/ [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Willy, C., Hauer, T., Nuschitt, N. and Palm, H-G., 2011. "Einsatzchirurgie"-experiences of German military surgeons in Afghanistan. *Langenbeck's Archives of Surgery*. [e-journal] 396 (4), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Winter, M., Osmers, I. and Krieger, S., 2011. Unfallchirurgische Katastrophenhilfe nach dem Erdbeben in Haiti 2010 – Ein Erfahrungsbericht. *Unfallchirug*. [e-journal] 114 pp. 79 – 84, Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.uib.no/ub [Accessed 7 May 2013].

Wolbring, G., 2011. Disability, Displacement and Public Health: A Vision for Haiti. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*. [e-journal] 102 (2), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 5 June 2013].

Women's Refugee Commission, 2008. *Disabilities among refugees and conflict-affected populations*. [pdf] Women's Refugee Commission. Available at: http://www.womensrefugeecommission.org/component/docman/cat_view/68-reports/81-disabilities?Itemid=155> [Accessed 6 May 2013].

World Bank, 2011. World Development Report 2011: Conflict, Security and Development. [online] The World Bank. Available at: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTWDRS/Resources/WDR2011_Full_Text.pdf [Accessed 4 June 2013].

World Bank, 2011. *Data: Countries and Economies*. [online] Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/country [Accessed 5 June 2013].

World Confederation for Physical Therapy, 2013. *World Confederation for Physical Therapy*. [online] Available at: http://www.wcpt.org [Accessed 3 July 2013].

World Confederation for Physical Therapy. 2011. *Policy Statement – Description of Physical Therapy*. [online]. WCPT. Available at: http://www.wcpt.org/what-is-physical-therapy [Accessed 3 July 2013].

World Confederation for Physical Therapy, 2013. WCPT makes statement on disability and PT at World Health Assembly. [pdf] Available at: http://www.wcpt.org/intranet/news/list/101073/pdf/July%202013.pdf [Accessed 5 July 2013].

World Health Organization, 2013. *Humanitarian Health Action. Definitions: Emergencies.* [online] Available at: http://www.who.int/hac/about/definitions/en/index.html [Accessed 18 July 2013].

World Health Organization, 2011. *World Report on Disability*. [online] Available at: http://www.who.int/disabilities/world_report/2011/en/index.html [Accessed 27 May 2013].

World Health Organization, 2011. Disaster Risk Management for Health: People with Disabilities and Older People. [online] WHO. Available at: http://www.who.int/hac/events/drm_fact_sheet_disabilities.pdf> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

World Health Organization, 2011. Disaster Risk Management for Health: Non-communicable Diseases. [online] WHO. Available at: http://www.who.int/hac/events/drm fact sheet non communicable diseases.pdf [Accessed 5 June 2013].

World Health Organization, 2008. *Primary Health Care: Now More Than Ever*. [online] Available at: http://www.who.int/whr/2008/overview/en/index.html [Accessed 10 June 2013].

World Health Organization, 2008. *The Global Burden of Disease: update 2004*. [online] Available at: <http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/GBD_report_2004update_full.pdf> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

World Health Organization, 2002. *World report on violence and health*. [online] Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2002/9241545615 eng.pdf> [Accessed 5 June 2013].

World Health Organization, 2002. Environmental Health in Emergencies and Disasters: A Practical Guide. [online] Available at: http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/emergencies/emergencies2002/en/ [Accessed 5 June 2013].

World Health Organization, 2005. *Disasters, Disability and Rehabilitation*. [online] Available at: http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/other_injury/disaster_disability2.pdf> [Accessed 23 May 2013].

World Health Organization, 1978. Declaration of *Alma-Ata*. [pdf] Available at: http://www.who.int/publications/almaata_declaration_en.pdf [Accessed 23 May 2013].

World Health Organization, 1969. WHO Expert Committee on Medical Rehabilitation: Second Report. [online] Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/trs/WHO TRS 419.pdf> [Accessed 4 May 2013].

Zhang, X., Reinhardt, J. D., Gosney, J. E. and Li, J., 2013. The NHC Rehabilitation Services Program improves long-term physical functioning in survivors of the 2008 Sichuan Earthquake: a longitudinal quasi-experiment. *Public Library of Science*. [e-journal] 8 (1), Available through: University of Bergen Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 14 May 2013].

Zhang, X., Hu, X., Reinhardt, J. D., Zhu, H., Gosney, J. E., Liu, S. and Li, J., 2012. Functional Outcomes and Health-related Quality of Life in Fracture Victims 27 Months after the Sichuan Earthquake. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*. [e-journal] 44, pp. 206 – 209, Available through: University of Bergen University Library Website http://www.ub.uib.no [Accessed 14 May 2013].